


THE CITY OF

LAKE FOREST

CIHHARTERED 1861

STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

TO: Chairman Grieve and members of the Historic Preservation Commission
DATE: September 14, 2020
FROM: Catherine Czerniak, Director of Community Development

SUBJECT: Deerpath Streetscape Improvement Plan

Petitioner Location Historic District
City of Lake Forest Deerpath from Western Avenue west East Lake Forest Local and
to just west of Oakwood Avenue National Historic Districts

Project Representatives
Jim Lockefeer, Public Works — Management Analyst

Craig Bergmann Landscape Design, Inc. - Erin Herrera and Craig Bergmann

Summary of the Petition
This is a request for a Certificate of Appropriateness for the Deerpath Streetscape Improvement

Plan. The Plan covers the Deerpath streetscape from Western Avenue to just west of Oakwood
Avenue. This portion of Deerpath is in the Local Historic District.

Background
The Plan is a part of the report recently completed by an interdisciplinary adhoc committee which

was appointed by the City Manager in 2019 to study and make recommendations on improvements
that should be considered for this portion of Deerpath as infrastructure repairs and replacement are
undertaken, and as funding becomes available. The Adhoc Deerpath Streetscape Committee
included representatives of the City Council, Boards and Commissions, business and property
owners, the Preservation Foundation and residents. The Committee was supported by staff from
the City’s Public Works Department and the City’s consultant, Craig Bergmann Landscape Design,
Inc.

The Deerpath Streetscape Improvement Plan is presented to the Commission for review, public
hearing and action. The entire report is also included in the Commission’s packet as background
however, the Commission’s purview and action pertains only to the Plan itself. A Certificate of
Appropriateness is requested to approve the Plan as included in the Commission’s packet, pages 1
thru 7. The background is provided to inform the Commission of the various concepts that were
studied and discussed by the Adhoc Committee during the course of its work.

The Commission’s review of the Plan is requested because this section of Deerpath is located in the
City’s Local Historic District as noted above. A Certificate of Appropriateness is requested to
support the City’s application for a grant through the Illinois Transportation Enhancement Program.
Since Deerpath is in the historic district, documentation of review and the issuance of a Certificate
of Appropriateness must be included in the grant application. If the City is successful in obtaining
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this grant, the likelthood of various aspects of the Plan moving forward sooner, rather than later, is
increased.

STAFF EVALUATION

The City’s consultant, Bergmann Landscape Design, Inc. will provide an overview of the Deerpath
Streetscape Improvement Plan at the Commission’s meeting and will be available to respond to
questions about design aspects of the plan, lighting, landscaping and hardscape materials.

Findings in support of a Certificate of Appropriateness are presented below for the Commission’s
consideration.

Standard 1 — Height.
This standard is met. The height of streetlight poles will be consistent with streetlights in Market
Square.

Standard 2 — Proportion of Front Fagade.

This standard is met. The Plan is designed to feature, and not obscure or distract from, the front
facades of the historic buildings that line Western Avenue. Clutter along the streetscape is avoided
with trees and streetlights appropriately spaced.

Standard 3 — Proportion of Openings.
This standard is not applicable to this request.

Standard 4 — Rhythm of Solids to Voids.
This standard is not applicable to this request.

Standard 5 — Spacing on the Street.

This standard is met. Spacing of elements along the streetscape was carefully considered,
particularly vertical elements. In locating trees and streetlights, architectural elements of the
buildings were used to guide placement.

Standard 6 — Rhythm of Entrance Porches.
This standard is not applicable to this request.

Standard 7 — Relationship of Materials and Texture.

The hardscape materials were selected to be elegant, historically appropriate and subtle to avoid
distracting from the buildings. Importantly, hardscape materials were also selected for durability and
safety to minimize trip hazards.

Standard 8 — Roof Shapes.
This standard is not applicable to this request.

Standard 9 — Walls of Continuity.

This standard is met. Preserving and protecting the visibility and prominence of the historic
buildings along Deerpath was a key focus of the committee. The streetscape elements themselves
are intended to be subordinate to the historic buildings and to allow the architectural detailing to be
highlighted and enjoyed by passersby.
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Standard 10 — Scale.
This standard is met. The scale of the elements included in the Plan respect the historic buildings
and were selected to relate to pedestrians as they walk along the streetscape.

Standard 11 — Directional Expression of Front Elevation.
This standard is not applicable to this petition.

Standard 12 — Preservation of Historic Material.
This standard is met. In developing the improvement plan, care was taken not to include
modifications that could negatively impact building foundations or fagade materials.

Standard 13 — Protection of Natural Resources.

This standard is met. Trees planted in trees wells along Deerpath in this area in past years have repeatedly
failed to thrive. A goal of this plan is to find a way to incorporate limited trees and vegetation in a manner
that allows them to flourish. Trees are proposed in tree #renches which will retain water. Trees are proposed
in limited areas recognizing that much of the streetscape is in shadow particularly the south side of the street
due to the Northern Trust Bank building. Trees will be selected for hardiness recognizing that snow
plowing, staging of snow and salt are a reality along this narrow right of way. Once planted, the trees will be
regularly maintained.

Standard 14 — Compatibility.

This standard is met. The design elements, streetlights and hardscape materials are selected to
reference Market Square and, as noted above, to be subtle and elegant. The historic buildings along
this streetscape are defining elements at this entrance to the Central Business District.

Standard 15 — Repair to deteriorated features.
This standard is met. As appropriate, features and surfaces that are intended to remain will be
repaired.

Standard 16 — Surface cleaning.
This standard is met. To the extent that surface cleaning is necessary and appropriate for materials
that remain, cleaning using appropriate techniques will be completed.

Standard 17 — Integrity of historic property.

This standard is met. The Deerpath Streetscape Improvement Plan is a guide to assure that as
infrastructure upgrades occur, enhancements of the streetscape are incorporated into or added to
that work. The Plan is designed to feature the historic buildings along the streetscape while
upgrading hardscape, providing for increased public safety, managing stormwater and softening this
busy corridor by adding trees and seasonal color.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Public notice of this petition was provided in accordance with the City requirements and practices.
Notice was mailed by the Community Development Department to surrounding property owners
and businesses. The agenda for this meeting was posted at various public locations.

Prior to this project coming before the Historic Preservation Commission, there was extensive public
outreach including the appointment of an interdisciplinary committee. As noted above, the initial
concepts for improvements to the Deerpath Streetscape were developed, studied and modified by
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the committee that was appointed to guide staff and the City’s consultants. A public work session
was held in 2019 to seek public comment. The work session was well attended.

RECOMMENDATION
Grant a Certificate of Appropriateness for the Deerpath Streetscape Improvement Plan, pages 1
thru 7 in the Commission’s packet.

The Plan will be used as guide as future improvements are planned and as support for a grant
application being submitted by the City for supplemental funding to help finance the streetscape
improvements.




































































































































Agenda Item 4
740 Washington Road
New Residence

Staff Report
Updated Building Scale Summary
Vicinity Map

Materials Submitted by Petitioner

Application

Updated Statement of Intent

Description of Exterior Materials

Proposed Site Plan & Site Section

Site Context Images

Previously Proposed East (Front) Elevation

Currently Proposed East (Front) Elevation

Currently Proposed East (Front) Elevation — Color Rendering
Previously Proposed South Elevation

Currently Proposed South Elevation

Currently Proposed South Elevation — Color Rendering
Previously Proposed West Elevation

Currently Proposed West Elevation

Currently Proposed West Elevation — Color Rendering
Previously Proposed North Elevation

Currently Proposed North Elevation

Currently Proposed North Elevation — Color Rendering
Previously Proposed Perspective — East Elevation
Currently Proposed Perspeciive — East Elevation
Previously Proposed Perspective — West Elevation
Currently Proposed Perspective — Wesi Elevation
Previously Proposed Roof Plan

Currently Proposed Roof Plan

Currently Proposed Building Section

Currently Proposed Floor Plans

Preliminary Site Grading Plan

Proposed Landscape Plan

Materials shown in italics are included in the Commission packet only. A complete copy of
the packet is available from the Community Development Department.

Historic Preservation Commission
September 14, 2020



THE CITY OF

LAKE FOREST

CHARTERED 1861

STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

TO: Chairman Gtieve and members of the Historic Preservation Commission
DATE: September 14, 2020
FROM: Jennifer Baehr, Assistant Planner

SUBJECT: 740 Washington Road — Continued Consideration of a New Residence

PETITIONERS PROPERTY LOCATION HISTORIC DISTRICTS
Hugh and Diane Zentmyer 740 Washington Road East Lake Forest Local and
29744 N. Spyglass Court National Historic Districts

Ivanhoe, IL 60060

PROJECT REPRESENTATIVE
Edward Deegan

503 Patk Drive, Suite #4
Kenilworth, IL 60043

SUMMARY OF THE PETITION

This is a request for a Certificate of Appropriateness for a new single family residence and attached
garage proposed on a vacant lot. Approval of a tree removal plan, conceptual landscape plan and
overall site plan is also requested.

COMMISSION DISCUSSION TO DATE ON THIS PETITION

The Commission considered this petition at the August 26, 2020 meeting. At that meeting, the
Commission, in a split decision, voted to continue the petition to allow the petitioners to consider
the comments offered by the Commission and reconsider and tefine the plans in response to the
comments. The Commission offered the following comments and direction on various aspects of
the design of the residence.

* Eliminate the cupola. The cupola does not appear consistent with the style of the home or
character of the surrounding historic district.

¢ Conduct further study of the large expanses of glass around the home and consider
refinement to minimize the potential for light spillover.

e Eliminate the glass ridges on the roof to reduce the potential for light spillover.

® Enhance the gable forms in an effort to add more depth to their appearance.

® Conduct further study of the proportions of solids to voids to achieve greater consistency on
all of the elevations of the home.

® Consider modifications to the proportions of the tall, narrow windows to present a more
residential appearance and to achieve more of a2 human scale.

The petitioner provided a revised statement of intent in response to the Commission’s comments.
The revised statement of intent is included in the Commission’s packet along with revised
elevations. Portions of the previous submittal are included in the Commission’s packet for
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comparison putrposes. A draft of the minutes from the August meeting is also included in the packet
detailing the Commission’s deliberations on this petition.

REVISIONS SINCE THE LAST MEETING

The following key revisions were made in response to the Commission’s direction at the last
meeting. The changes appear to ditectly respond to the Commission’s comments resulting in a plan
that more fully satisfies the applicable standards.

® The cupola was eliminated.

® The glass ridges above the kitchen were eliminated.

® The tall, latge bay windows in the great room on the east and west elevations were
eliminated.

¢ The gable roof form above the front porch was removed.

® Three single dormer windows were added to the east elevation above the front porch.

* Windows in the upper gable ends of the garage, craft room, master bedroom and master
closet were eliminated.

¢ Shutters were added to the windows on the gable ends on the east elevation.

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION
Portions of the information below are repeated from the previous staff report on this petition for the benefit of those who
may be unfamiliar with the project.

The property is located on the west side of Washington Road, between Westminster and Walnut
Road. The property is Lot 2 of the recently approved Margaret M. and Hampden M. Swift Memorial
Subdivision which was recorded with Lake County in June 2020. The Subdivision is comprised of
four parcels. This lot is the first to be developed in this subdivision. Plans for a new residence on a
second lot, Lot 1, were recently submitted to the City for review and are expected to be presented to
the Commission for public heating in late September.

Lot 2, the site now proposed for development, totals 41,041 square feet and is generally rectangular
however, the east propetty line follows the curve of W. ashington Road. There is a significant grade
change across the site which was identified as a unique feature of the property during the earlier
discussions of the subdivision. To the extent possible, the existing topogtaphy is intended to be
preserved as well as healthy, significant trees.

The overall Swift property is located in an established, historic single family home neighborhood,
within walking distance to the Central Business District, train station, the beach, Library, Gorton
Community Center and other community amenities. The four new homes on this site have the
potential to have a significant impact on the character of the historic neighborhood in which they
are located. The conditions of approval of the subdivision strived to assure that as the lots
developed, the wooded character of the property, the vegetated streetscapes and the existing
topography would be preserved to the extent possible to allow the new development to fit quietly
into the historic neighborhood. This property is close to some of the communities most Important
historic structures including the Library, train station, the Church of the Covenants and many
historically significant homes.
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STAFF EVALUATION

Site Plan

The proposed residence faces east toward Washington Road, and the attached garage faces south. A
tree preservation area, as noted on the plat of subdivision, is located at the north east corner of the
site, along Washington Road. A single curb cut is proposed, consistent with the limitations on the
plat of subdivision, near the southeast cotner of site to minimize impacts to the tree preservation
atea to the north.

An asphalt drive is proposed. The driveway is configured in an effort to try to preserve significant
trees in the front yard. Some additional shifting of the driveway as the plans are finalized and in the
field is recommended by the City Arborist in an effort to provide as much protection as possible to
the most significant trees that are identified for preservation. Stone outcroppings are proposed
along a portion of the north and south sides of the driveway to serve as retaining walls and
essentially a tree well, with the goal of protecting and preserving a significant Heritage tree to the
north of the driveway. Stone outcroppings are also proposed along the south property line and in
the northwest corner of the site as a way to help preserve the existing grades on the site and to
transition to adjacent lots. An asphalt and paver motor court is proposed at the front of the house.
Lime washed brick walls ate proposed around the motor court.

A brick paver patio is proposed on the reat of the house. The existing brick feature near the rear
(west) property line, which served as a gtill and patio area for the house that was demolished, is
proposed to remain. Adjacent to the existing brick walls, a new koi pond is proposed.

Based on information submitted by the petitioner, the amount of proposed impetvious surface on
the site totals 9,713 square feet, equal to 24% of the site. The building footprint totals 5,550 square
feet and other paved surfaces including the driveway, motor court, walls and walkways total 4,163
square feet.

New Residence

Based on the petitioner’s statement of intent, the residence is designed in an English country house
style. The proposed residence is a one and half story mass with a combination of gable, hip and shed
roof forms. The garage mass is on the notth end of the house, connected by a small single story
linking element. The home features traditional, simple detailing. High quality, natural materials are
proposed with a neutral, subtle color palette.

Updated Findings
A staff review of the applicable standards in the City Code, based on the revised plans submitted by
the petitioners, is provided below.

Standard 1 - Height.

This standard is met. The surrounding neighborhood reflects mostly one and half and two story
homes. The tallest roof tidge of the house is at 24’-2” from the lowest point of existing grade based
on the information submitted to staff. The maximum height allowed for this property is 40 feet.

Standard 2 — Proportion of Front Facade.

This standard is met. The front of the residence, facing Washington Road, presents a one and half
story massing with projecting and recessed gable forms and an open porch, creating depth to the
front facade of the house.
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Standard 3 — Proportion of Openings.

This standard is met. The house features mostly narrow and vertically otiented openings. The
proposed lite pattetns of the openings create small, vertical panes of glass, consistent with traditional
detailing.

In response to the comments offered at the previous meeting, the cupola, glass ridges and the large,
tall bay windows on the front and rear elevations were eliminated to reduce the potential for light
spillover. The openings previously proposed in the upper gable ends on the front and rear elevations
were also eliminated to present a more residential appearance and to achieve more of a human scale.

Standard 4 — Rhythm of Solids to Voids.

This standard is generally met. As mentioned above, in response to the Commission’s comments
offered at the last meeting, the openings in the upper gable ends and the large, tall bay windows on
the front and rear elevations were eliminated, helping to present a more regular rhythm of solids of
voids.

Standard 5 ~ Spacing on the Street.
This standard is met. This is the first lot to be developed in the subdivision, the properties adjacent
to the lot are vacant, and this house will begin to establish a pattern of spacing along the streetscape.

Standard 6 — Rhythm of Entrance Porches.
This standatd is met. A covered entrance porch is proposed on the front facade. The porch is
appropriately located and consistent with the architectural style of the home.

Standard 7 — Relationship of Materials and Texture.

This standard is met. The extetior is comptised of high quality and natural materials. Lime-washed
brick is proposed for the primary facade material. Horizontal wood siding 1s proposed on the garage
and on projecting bays around the house. Wood panels are proposed on the exterior in some areas
below cpenings. Wood shingle is proposed for the main roof material and standing seam copper
roofs are proposed for the front porch, projecting bay windows and the linking element between the
house and garage. White aluminum clad wood windows, simulated divided lites, with affixed intetior
and exterior muntin bars, are proposed. Brick is proposed for the window and door trim. Wood is
proposed for the fascia boards, soffits and rake boards. A brick chimney with a copper cap is
proposed. Clay chimney pots are common in the Historic District and consideration should be given
to whether that treatment at the top of the chimney would be more compatible with the
surrounding area.

Hardscape on the site includes an asphalt drive, an asphalt and paver motor court, lime washed brick
walls around the motor coutt, and a stone patio on the rear.

Standard 8 — Roof Shapes.

This standard is met. The residence features mostly gable toof forms, as well as shed and hipped
roofs as secondary roof forms. Since the last meeting, the roof plan was modified in the area of the
front porch, and the tall bay windows and cupola were eliminated, helping to simplify the overall
roof form and present a more continuous roof line on the main mass of the home.
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Standard 9 — Walls of Continuity.
This standard is met. The massing, scale, and detailing are consistent on all elevations of the heouse.

Standaid 10 — Scale.

This standard is met. The tesidence as presented complies with the building scale requirements.
Based on the lot size, a residence of up to 5,083 square feet is permitted on the site. In addition, a
garage of up to 800 square feet is permitted along with up to 508 square feet of design elements. The
proposed residence totals 4,537 squate feet. The garage totals 846 square feet; the excess squate
footage of the garage is counted toward the overall square footage of the house. The house as
proposed is 500 squate feet below the maximum permitted size. There are 434 square feet of design
elements.

Standard 11 - Directional Expression of Front Elevation.
This standard is met. The front elevation is oriented toward the street, consistent with the
directional expression of the homes in the surrounding neighborhood.

Standard 12 - Preservation of Historic Material.
This standard is not applicable to this request. Although the brick element in the rear yard is
proposed to be preserved, no particular historic significance has been attributed to that element.

Standard 13 — Protection of Natural Resources.

This standard requires further due diligence during the final design phase and throughout the construction
process. The location of the proposed residence is generally in the location of the home originally on the
site. No existing trees are located within the footprint of the house, garage or motot coutrt.

A nine inch Hawthorn tree located adjacent to the driveway will be removed. The configuration of the
proposed driveway is designed to preserve the grouping of evergreen trees on the northeast side of the site
and a heritage oak tree (#305 on the tree survey). The petitioner has submitted a pre and post.construction
maintenance plan for the heritage oak tree. The plan also reflects a boulder wall, essentially creating a tree
well, to protect the tree given its location near the proposed driveway and grading work. A tree on the south
side of the driveway (tree #302) is also proposed for protection. The City Arborist noted that tree 302 is
less significant than tree 305 and that to the extent possible, consideration should be given to shifting the
driveway slightly, removing tree 302 to increase the chance for survival of tree 305 over the long term.

As construction activity on the site gets underway, the impacts on any trees identified for protection and
preservation will be re-evaluated on an ongoing basis and if it is determined that trees on the property are
negatively impacted by construction or grading, replacement inches or a payment in lieu of on site plantings
will be required based on the size, species and conditions of the trees impacted. Replacement of Heritage
trees 1s required at double inch for inch replacement.

The preliminary landscape plan submitted by the petitioner reflects a number of proposed plantings
on the property including Maple, Spruce, Bitch, and Beech trees, and a variety of ornamental
plantings around the foundation of the house and motor court. Based on the proposed landscape
plan, the required amount of replacement inches as currently anticipated, is met.

Standard 14 — Compatibility.
This standard is generally met. The scale, height, materials, and architectural detailing are compatible
with the mix of styles in the surrounding historic neighborhood.
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Standard 15 — Repais to deteriorated features.
This standard is not applicable to this request.

Standaid 16 — Surface cleaning.
This standard is not applicable to this request.

Standard 17 — Integrity of historic property.

This standard is generally met. The property is vacant and one of four new development sites in this
area. The conditions of approval of the recent subdivision are intended to allow the four new
homes to fit quietly into this important historic neighborhood tespecting the significant trees,
vegetated streetscape and the topogtraphy of the site. The petitioner has made efforts to site the
tesidence and configure the hardscape to minimize tree removal and limit longer term negative
Impacts on trees and vegetation as a result of construction activity. The proposed residence reflects
traditional massing and detailing, and high quality natural materials, consistent with the surrounding
historic neighborhood.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Public notice of this petition was provided in accordance with the City requirements and practices.
Notice was mailed by the Community Development Department to surrounding property owners
and the agenda for this meeting was posted at vatrious public locations. As of the date of this writing,
no correspondence was received regarding this request.

RECOMMENDATION

Grant a Certificate of Appropriateness approving a new residence, attached garage, conceptual
landscape plan and overall site plan on property located at 740 Washington Road, subject to the
following conditions of approval.

1. Consideration should be given to use of a clay chimney pot on the chimney.

2. Plans submitted for permit must reflect the project as approved by the Commission. Any
modifications made to the plans presented to the Commission as a result of refinements
made in response to the Commission’s direction and discussion or changes due to final
design development must be clearly detailed and called out on the plans submitted for
permit. The revised plans as submitted to the Commission for review on September 14"
must also be submitted for comparison putposes, areas of change should be highlighted.
The plans submitted for permit will be subject to review by staff, in consultation with the
Chairman as appropriate, to vetify that the plans are consistent with the intent of the
Commission and the apptovals granted.

3. At the time of submittal for a building permit, detailed drainage and grading plans must be
submitted. The plans shall clearly reflect all existing trees and identify those proposed for
removal. Grading and filling shall be limited to the minimum necessary to meet accepted
engineeting standards in the interest of minimizing stress on the trees intended to remain.
The plans shall be subject to review and approval by the City Engineer in consultation with
the City’s Certified Arborist.

4. Tree Protection Plan — Prior to the issuance of a building permit, a plan to protect any trees

identified for preservation during construction must be submitted and will be subject to review and
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approval by the City’s Certified Arborist. Chain link fencing shall be requited to protect trees
intended for preservation. Pre and post construction treatment or trees and maintenance must be
compieted in a timely manner as required by the City’s Cettified Arborist.

5. Priot to the issuance of 2 building permit, a detailed, landscape plan shall be submitted and will be
subject to review and approval by the City’s Certified Arborist. The plan shall provide for the
required replacement inches on site to the extent possible using good forestry practices. If all
replacement tree inches cannot be accommodated on the site, the number of remaining inches for
which a payment in lieu of planting will be required must be noted on the plan. The full payment in
lieu of on site plantings is required prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy. If during
construction, additional trees on the site are compromised in the opinion of the City’s Certified
Arborist, additional replacement inches or payment in lieu of on site planting may be required.

6. Details of all exterior lighting shall be reflected on the plans submitted for permit. No
landscape lighting is proposed based on the current plans. If landscape lighting is proposed,
City review and approval will be required. For all exterior lights on the residence, garage or
elsewhere on the site, permits must be obtained. Cut sheets of all light fixtures shall be
provided. All fixtures shall solely direct light downward and the sousce of the light shall be
shielded from view from off the property by the fixtures.

7. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, a plan for construction parking and materials’
staging shall be submitted to the City for review and will be subject to City apptroval in an
effort to minimize impacts on the surrounding neighborhood. The existing topography and
trees and vegetation shall be protected from impact. Due to the curving road no parking of
construction or contractor vehicles is permitted on the street. Off-site parking at the public
patking lots located nearby may be required to accommodate contractor’s vehicles and to
minimize impacts on the neighborhood.



THE CITY OF LAKE FOREST BUILDING REVIEW BOARD -- BUILDING SCALE INFORMATION SHEET

Address 740 Washington Road Owner(s) Hugh and Diane Zentmyer
Architect Edward Deegan Reviewed by: Jen Baehr

Date 9/14/2020

Lot Area 41041 sq- .

Square Footage of New Residence:

1st floor 3872 + 2nd floor 306 + 3rd floor 0 = 4178 sq. ft.

Design Element Allowance = 508 sq. ft.

Total Actual Design Elements = 434 sq. ft. Excess = 0 sq.ft.

Garage 846 sf actual ; 800 sf allowance Excess = 46 sq. ft.

Garage Width 23-3"  ft. may not exceed 24' in width on lots

18,900 sf or less in size.

Basement Area = 312 sq. ft.

Accessory buildings = 0 sq. ft.
TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE = 4537 sq. ft.
TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE ALLOWED = 5083 sq. ft.
DIFFERENTIAL = -546 sq. ft.

Under Maximum
Allowable Height: 40 ft. Actual Height 24'-2" .

NET RESULT:
546 sa.ft. is

11% under the
Max. allowed

DESIGN ELEMENT EXEMPTIONS

Design Element Allowance: 508 sq. ft.
Front & Side Porches = 434 sq. ft.
Rear & Side Screen Porches = 0 sq. ft.
Covered Entries = 0 sq. ft.
Portico = 0 sq. ft.
Porte-Cochere = 0 sq. ft.
Breezeway = 0 sq. ft.
Pergolas = 0 sq. ft.
Individual Dormers = 0 sq. ft.
Bay Windows = 0 sq. ft.
Total Actual Design Elements = 434 sq. ft. Excess Design Elements = 0 sq. ft.
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September 3, 2020

Chairman and members of the Lake Forest Historic Preservation Commission
The City of Lake Forest

220 East Deerpath

Lake Forest, IL. 60045

Dear Chairman and the Members of the Commission,

As a response to the notice of action dated August 26, 2020 for our petition, we
have considered the comments below.

* Eliminate the cupola. The cupola does not appear consistent with the style of the
home or character of the surrounding historic district.
* We have removed the cupola to adhere more closely to the style of the
English country house and to remain consistent with the character of the
historic district.
* Conduct further study of the large expanses of glass around the home and consider
refinement to minimize the potential for light spillover.
* We have removed transom windows from both the gable ends and shed
dormers to decrease light spillover potential.
* Eliminate the glass ridges on the roof to reduce the potential for light spillover.
* The glass ridge features have been removed to reduce light spill over
potential.
* Enhance the gable forms in an effort to add more depth to their appearance.
* We have added shutters to add depth and soften the mass of the
limewashed brick on the gable forms.
* Conduct further study of the proportions of solids to voids to achieve greater
consistency on all of the elevations of the home.
* We have reduced the proportion of voids to solids in order to bring the
home into closer alignment with the standards of the historic guidelines.
* Consider modifications to the proportions of the tall, narrow windows to present a
more residential appearance and to achieve more of a human scale.
* We have reduced the height of the windows in the gable ends facing the
street to make the forms feel less vertical and bring the scale to a more
human level.
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Adjustments by Elevation to meet the standards of the historic district

e North Elevation

e}

The cupola is no longer present.

e [East Elevation

e}
O

o
O

Living Room bay has been removed.

East facing shed dormer and transoms removed.

3 gable dormers to replace large gable form in main roof.

Shutters added to front facing gables.

Transom windows removed from Master Closet and Garage gable forms.

o South Elevation

O

Cupola no longer present.

o West Elevation

O
o
O

Very truly yours,

A

Edward J Deegan AlA

Craft Room and Master Bed high windows removed.
Voids to solids proportion reduced in Breakfast Room form.
Dormer and transoms removed from Living Room.
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September 3, 2020

Chairman and members of the Lake Forest Historic Preservation Commission
The City of Lake Forest

220 East Deerpath

Lake Forest, IL. 60045

Dear Chairman and the Members of the Commission,

Statement of Intent for 740 N. Washington Road:

At the most essential level, the goal of this project is to construct a single-story home that thoughtfuily
and graciously caters to the needs of its inhabitants, who intend to make it their primary residence for
retirement. The late Swift Estate itself was conceived and manifested in the English country house

tradition, and the proposed design for 740 Washington seeks to honor and sustain a degree of stylistic
and historical continuity in that very tradition.

The Established Architectural Vernacular and Character:

Holistically, the aspiration is for the structure to not be imposed on - but rather, woven into - the natural
landscape and the residential fabric of the neighborhood. At the most essential level, the aspirations for
this project are to emulate the principles of a ‘Country House’ in the English tradition, made suitable to fit
contemporary standards of living. A survey of the existing vernacular of neighborhood dwellings
witnesses the use of symmetry, balance and classic detailing of “Coionial Revival” homes, all principles
this design seeks to dutifully complement.

Standards of the Historic Preservation Ordinance:
1. Height: The proposed dwelling is single-story with a maximum height of 24’ 2” to top of Ridge

2. Proportion of Front Facade: By virtue of being single-story, the home will be of modest height,
and by extension, vertically undisruptive to (not in competition with) the surrounding dwellings or
flora. Rhythmically, the home’s gable forms provide the primary anchorages of the structure,
establishing holistic balance and sustaining a synchronized posture along the front and back
facades. The gabie forms are spatially punctuated in a sequence respectful to the English country
tradition, and undulate and step back graciously to achieve a nuanced harmony between solids
and voids.

3. Proportion of Openings: Overall, the home’s openings are respectfully scaled to the overall
massing of the home. The design is highly compatible with homes on adjacent properties. The

o WWW.EDWARDDEEGANARCHITECTS.COM




10.

windows of the house reflect simple and consistent balance throughout. Select window areas
corresponding to living room and bedroom space have been adapted ever-so-slightly to allow
ample natural light to permeate the interior. The doors of the home are of traditional dimensions.

Rhythm of solids to voids in front of facades: The front elevation with its primary gable forms,
are spatially punctuated, undulating to achieve a nuanced harmony between solids and voids. The
proportions of the gables themselves - and the windows / openings impressed upon them -
likewise remain faithful to the English Country House philosophy, thinly and delicately perforated
at the gable’s center, preserving an ample, solid face of the gable laterally and vertically.

Rhythm of spacing and structures on streets: At present, the site exists within a developmental

vacuum - a context inherited from the late Swift Estate. The new construction would be the first
structure erected on the four-way subdivision of the former estate grounds and thus would aspire
to establish a neutral, agreeable palette amidst the immediate vicinity — intimately, respectfully,
and unassumingly.

Rhythm of entrance porches, storefront, recesses and other projections: The entrance porch

space present on the front facade is understated and seamlessly integrated within the confines of
the roof plan to create a tasteful and nuanced harmony between solid and voided space. Window
bays achieve prominence only on the back (private) facade of the house. The window bays abide
a technique perfected in the English Country House tradition. The 3 gable dormers on the front
facade are equally spaced centered on the kitchen window to provide a rhythm to center the eye
between the study room gable and the garage gable

Relationship of materials and texture: From a material standpoint, the home will be a
predominantly lime-washed brick structure, outfitted with punctuated white paneling around
select window areas to achieve a pristine exterior finish. We consider the material treatment to
be consistent with and flattering to the traditional and timeless textural parlance of the East Lake
Forest Historic District. Delicate quatre-perforations adorn the tops of the gable forms and remain
considerably understated, yet endowing the form with a mark of nuanced loveliness. Gauged flat
arches outfit the tops of windows as structurally relieving agents. Corbeled brick details at the
gable returns diffuse the formality of the structure.

Roof shapes: The roof shape itself is dictated by the home’s primary gable forms and abides by
the traditional angularity perceived in the neighborhood’s established homes.

Walls of continuity: All proposed wall structures of the front fagade, including the structural walls
of the dwelling itself as well as walls for landscape enclosure, are consistent in height. The
rooflines are standardized and sustained through the entirety of the front elevation.

Scale of structure: As a single-story dwelling, the home is of modest vertical scale.
Consummately, the scale is subtle, contextually respectful and understated.

ED
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11. Directional expression of structure: The proposed orientation of the home on the site seeks a
natural axial alignment with the soft curvature of Washington Road, posturing the front elevation

in quasi-parallel orientation with the street. Moreover, the home will be nestled a considerable
distance from the street to safeguard the privacy of the residents and maintain a reasonable
balance of aesthetic discretion vs. engagement from pedestrian and vehicular traffic.

12. Preserving distinguishing features: N/A due to status as ‘New Construction’.

13. Protection of resources: No major changes. The design of the driveway graciously preserves a .
significant Heritage Oak in the front yard.

14. New Construction: The entire home will be a ‘New Construction’.
15. Repair to deteriorated features: N/A due to status as ‘New Construction’.
16. Surface Cleaning: N/A due to status as ‘New Construction’.

17. Reversibility of Additions and Alterations: This is a ‘New Construction’ home.

Very truly yours,
W @
Edward J Deegan AIA N / f
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LAKE FOREST

THE CITY OF LAKE FOREST
HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION APPLICATION

DESCRIPTION OF EXTERIOR MATERIALS
(The use of natural materials s strongly encouraged)

Facade Material Foundation Material
O Stone Exposed Foundation Material
Brick
O Wood Clapboard Siding
L} Wood Shingle
O Cementitious Stucco
O Other

Color and/or Type of Material Lime Wash Brick

Window Treatment
Primary Window Type Finish and Color of Windows
L0 Double Hung O Wood (recommended)
Casement &I Aluminum Clad
Sliding O  Vinyl Clad
Other O  Other
Color of Finish_wnite
Window Muntins
O Not Provided
True Divided Lites
Simulated Divided | ites
C1 Interior and Exterior muntin bars {recommended)
Interior muntin bars only
Exterior muntin bars only
Muntin bars contained between the glass
Trim Material
Door Trim Window Trim
O Limestone O Limestone
B1 Brick B Brick
0O wWood O Wood
OO Other O  Other

Fascias, Soffits, Rakeboards

[J

Wood
Other




THE CITY OF LAKE FOREST
HISTORIC PRESERVATION ‘COMMISSION APPLICATION

DESCRIPTION OF EXTERIOR MATERIALS — CONTINUED

Chimney Material

Brick

Stone
Stucco
Other

oooE

Roofing

Primary Roof Material Flashing Material

Wood Shingles LI Copper
Wood Shakes ' O  Other

Slate O Shest Metal
Clay Tile

Compositicn Shingles

Sheat Metal Standing Seam Copper

Other

gEOOons

Color of Material

Gutters and Downspouts

LJ Copper
O Aluminum
Other

Driveway Material

Asphalt

Poured Concrete
Brick Pavers
Concrete Pavers
Crushed Stone
Cther

O0oEOomE

Terraces and Patios

Bluestone

Brick Pavers
Concrete Pavers
Poured Concrete
Other

Oo00m-g
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PROPOSED SITE PLAN & SITE SECTION
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ACROSS FROM LOTS 2 AND 3
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PREVIOUSLY PROPOSED EAST (FRONT) ELEVATION

East Elevation
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED EAST (FRONT) ELEVATION
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED EAST (FRONT) ELEVATION - COLOR RENDERING
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PREVIOUSLY PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION

South Eievation
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED SOUTH ELEVATION — COLOR RENDERING

ke

E.:’;&"FA * % "r i el = i - T}%“‘;fd‘[" + ;‘E ’Zo-_L ’ 3 e :

South Elevation 0 5
™ ™ ——
Scale: 1/8"=1'-0"

SHEET NO. [ | —
HPC?2 .3 EDWARD DEEGAN The Zentmyer Residence
. ARCHITECTS _ ST
IFE{EI\E/\I/i\I'EI'?ONS 503 Park Drive #4 740 WaShl ngton Rd §; :2?%{:1 E
Kenilworth IL 60043 P N
Sl i Lake Forest, IL 60045 G

09/02/2020¢ HPC SET




PREVIOUSLY PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION

West Elevation
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION — COLOR RENDERING

West Elevation
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PREVIOUSLY PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION — COLOR RENDERING
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PREVIOUSLY PROPOSED PERSPECTIVE — EAST ELEVATION

Front Yard Perspective
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED PERSPECTIVE - EAST ELEVATION

Front Yard Perspective
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PREVIOUSLY PROPOSED PERSPECTIVE — WEST ELEVATION

Rear Yard Perspective
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CURRENTLY PROPOSED PERSPECTIVE - WEST ELEVATION
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PRELIMINARY SITE GRADING PLAN
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LOT
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; Driveway Remnants

2
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THE CITY OF

LAKE FOREST
TO: Chairman Grieve and members of the Historic Preservation Commission
DATE: September 14, 2020
FROM: Jennifer Baehr, Assistant Planner

SUBJECT: 259 Mayflower Road — Demolition of Single Family Residence

PROPERTY OWNER PROPERTY HISTORIC DISTRICTS
Desmond LaPlace LOCATION East Lake Forest L.ocal &
261 Mayflower Road 259 Mayflower Road National Historic District

Lake Forest, 1L 60045

PROJECT REPRESENTATIVES
Jim Opsitnik

971 Verda Lane

Lake Forest, IL 60045

Susan Benjamin, Jeanne Sylvester
Benjamin Historic Certifications
711 Marion Avenue

Highland Park, Illinois 60035

SUMMARY OF THE PETITION

This is a request for a Certificate of Appropriateness to authorize the demolition of an existing
single family residence. An accessory structure and vatious hardscape areas on the property are also
proposed for demolition. No replacement structure, the current property owner intends for the
property to remain undeveloped as part of the entrance corridor to his home located to the east.

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY AND SURROUNDING AREA

The property is located on the east side of Mayflower Road between Maplewood Road and Illinois
Road. The property is itregular in shape and totals 66,000 square feet. The property shares a curb cut
on Mayflower Road with two other residences, one to the north and Mr. LaPlace’s residence to the
east. The driveways to both of the neighboting homes are located partially on this property creating
an unusual situation for the house that is now proposed for demolition.

The residence at 259 Mayflower Road is a one and a half story Colonial Revival home. The existing
residence is identified as a Contributing Structure to the Historic District due to its age and
association with the neighboring estate. A small accessory building is located generally in the
northeast corner of the property and is noted as a “frame studio” on the survey included in the
Commission’s packet.

The east portion of the existing residence was originally built as the stable for the residence at 261
Mayflower Road. The original date of construction and architect of the stable is unknown, however
the residence at 261 Mayflower Road was built in 1899 and designed by architect Arthur Heun. The
building at 259 Mayflower Road was remodeled and converted into a garage and servant’s quarters
in 1936 by architect Ambrose Cramer. Based on available building permits, it appears that the
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building on the 259 Mayflower Road property was converted into a single family residence in 1940,
when an addition was built on the west side of the building.

Other homes in the area designed by Cramer include 35 N. Green Bay Road and 51 N. Green Bay
Road, both designed in the Colonial Revival style.

The petitioner engaged a consultant, Benjamin Historic Cettifications, LLC, to prepare a Historic
Resource Evaluation. This report is included in the Commission’s packet and provides a detailed
history of the property and original owners and provides information on architect Ambrose Cramer.
The information in the Historic Resource Evaluation is not repeated in this staff report. If the
demolition is approved, the report will be retained in the City’s archives as documentation of the
history of the property and a copy will be provided to the History Center.

STAFF EVALUATION

Demolition

The owner recently purchased the property at 259 Mayflower Road. The property owner is a long
time resident of 261 Mayflowetr Road, the propetty directly east of 259 Mayflower Road. As
described in the petitioner’s statement of intent, the property owner has no plans for a replacement
structure on the property. Also noted in the statement of intent, the putchase of the property was
motivated by the possibility of another purchaser demolishing the residence and beginning new
construction. The immediate past owner of the property nevet lived in the house but acquired it
several years ago with the intention of requesting approval of demolition of the house and
construction of a replacement residence. That owner never brought plans forward and instead re-
listed the house for sale. The City received several inquiries about redeveloping the site with a new
house. The lot is buildable howevet, the unusual configuration of the lot presents some
development challenges and the potential for impacts to neighboring properties.

The petitioner is proposing to demolish the existing residence in its entitety, as well as the accessory
structure in the northeast corner of the site and the hardscape areas surtounding the residence. The
portions of the existing dtiveway that extend north from the ptivate drive, toward the residence, ate
also proposed to be removed. The existing tree house, east of the residence, is proposed to be
telocated to the far north east corner of the site as reflected on the site plan included in the
Commission’s packet. The petitioner is also proposing the removal of declining and dead trees on
the property. The trees proposed for removal are shown in red on the plans included in the
Commission’s packet. ’

Although the home reflects the work of notable local architect, Ambrose Cramer, over the years a
number of alterations and expansions have taken place which have compromised the integtity of the
building. The Historic Resource Evaluation teport concludes that due to its compromised integtity,
demolition of the residence would be acceptable. The Historic Resource Evaluation report suggests
that the accessoty structure, also called the “tool shed” could be restored and moved given its level
of integrity and its “folly” like qualities as described in the repott.

Based on the information in the report and the statements provided by the petitioner, a review of
the demolition criteria is provided below.
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Demolition Criteria 1 -- Whether the propetty, structure or object is of such historic, cultural,
architectural or archaeological significance that its demolition would be detrimental to the
public interest and contrary to the general welfare of the people of the city and the state.

The residence is identified as a Contributing Structure within the Historic District. The Contributing
Structure designation does not prohibit demolition, but is an indication that a careful review and
evaluation is necessary and that if in fact demolition is approved, the house should be well
documented with photos and a natrative which will be retained in the City’s files and provided to the
History Center.

Although the residence reflects work by architect Ambrose Cramer, in comparison to Cramer’s
other designs in Lake Forest, the residence at 259 Mayflower is somewhat modest and
underwhelming in appearance. As noted above and further detailed in the Historic Resource
Evaluation repott, the existing residence has undergone numerous alterations and expansions since
its original construction and the layout and appearance of the home today is quite disconnected.
Given the compromised integrity of the residence, the structure in its current condition is not of
such historic, cultural or architectural importance that its demolition would be detrimental to the
public intetest.

Demolition Ctitetia 2 -- Whether the property, structute or object contributes to the
distinctive historic, cultural, architectural or archeological character of the District as a
whole and should be preserved for the benefit of the people of the city and the state.

The residence is set back from the street off of a private dtive, and is not visible from Mayflower
Road. The existing residence is not particularly unique or distinctive within the Historic District.

Demolition Criteria 3 -- Whether demolition of the property, structure or object would be
contrary to the purpose and intent of this Chapter and to the objectives of the historic
presetvation for the applicable District.

The residence has been altered in form, detailing and materials since the time of original
construction. A new residence was built on land to the north of this house in recent years, further
giving the house a feeling of being surrounded by driveway. The residence lacks the level of
distinction that would make it worthy of preservation. The demolition of the residence would not
be contrary to the putpose, intent of objectives of the Histotic Preservation Chapter in the City
Code.

Demolition Ctiteria 4 -- Whether the property, structure or object is of such old, unusual or
uncommon design, texture, and/or material that it could not be reproduced without great
difficulty and/or expense.

The original date of construction for the building is unclear, however based on permit records, it is
known that the date of construction predates the 1930’s. The residence is not of such old, unusual,
or uncommon design, texture, or material that it could not be reproduced without great difficulty or
expense.



Staff Report and Recommendation — 259 Mayflower Road Page 4 of 4
September 14, 2020

Demolition Criteria 5 -- Except in cases where the owner has no plans for a period of up to
five years to replace an existing Landmark or propetty, structure or object in a District, no
Certificate of Appropriateness shall be issued until plans for a replacement structure or
object have been reviewed and approved by the Commission.

The current owner has no plans to replace the existing residence as a result, no replacement
structure is proposed. Removal of the house will clean up the driveway entrance to Mt. LaPlace’s
residence at 261 Mayflower Road, creating a more graceful and approptiate entrance for his
Lakefront home.

PUBLIC COMMENT

Public notice of this petition was provided in accordance with the City requirements and practices.
Notice was mailed by the Department of Community Development to surrounding property ownets
and the agenda for this meeting was posted at various public locations and is available on the City’s
website. As of the date of this writing, one letter was received from a neighboring property owner
and is included in the Commission’s packet.

RECOMMENDATION
Grant a Certificate of Appropriateness authorizing the demolition of the tresidence and accessory
building at 259 Mayflower Road subject to the following conditions of approval.

1. During demolition activity, all trees and vegetation, unless otherwise approved by the City’s
Certified Arborist, shall be protected from damage. If determined to be necessary by the
City’s Certified Arborist, trees close to the areas of demolition activity shall be treated with
pre and post construction measures to increase the chances of long term survival.

2. The residence shall be removed in its entirety, including the basement and the site cleared of
all debris. The area of the basement shall be filled with material approved by the City and
graded even with existing grades on the site. The fill shall be compacted as directed by the
City.

3. On an ongoing basis, before, during and after demolition, the property must be maintained.
All grass shall be mowed on a regular basis and trees, shrubs and other vegetation shall be
regulatly maintained to avoid the appearance of an unkempt or overgrown property.

4. Any new structutes proposed for the propetty in the future, shall require review and approval
by the Historic Preservation Commission based on the applicable standards in the Code to
assure compatibility with and a positive contribution to, the Historic District.
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Jim Opsitnik

971 Verda Lane

Lake Forest, IL. 60045
847-867-9832

August 17, 2020

Lake Forest Historic Preservation Commission
c/o Ms. Catherine Czerniak

Director of Community Development

City of Lake Forest

800 N. Field Drive

Lake Forest, IL 60045

RE: Complete Demolition Permit Application for HPC
Single Family Residence, No Replacement
259 Mayflower Road
Owner: Desmond R. LaPlace

Dear Cathy and HPC Commissioners:

This demolition application is made on behalf of Mr. LaPlace, new owner of 259 Mayflower
Road. He is a long time resident of 261 Mayflower Road which is directly east of and at the end of the
same private lane. Mr. LaPlace has no plans for new construction on the property. As a matter of fact,
it was the possibility that another purchaser would tear down the house and begin new construction
that prompted Mr. LaPlace to purchase the property. The narrow one-lane drive is privately owned by
Mr. LaPlace. This is the only access to his home. The possibility of two-three years of construction
and disruption was not a viable option for Mr. LaPlace who is now 88 years old.

The subject home is neither historically or architecturally significant. Photographically, the
home may look presentable but it has serious deferred maintenance issues. The ownership lineage is
well traced in Susan Benjamin's report. The building was initially built as a carriage shed and
landscapers' room, then adapted to a three car garage, and in 1940 more accommodating living areas
were built. In her report, Ms. Benjamin explores the career of the 1940 architect, Ambrose Cramer.
In our opinion, the design and style, although charming, offer little more than functionality to the then
existing garage. In recent years, modifications to the house have been so erratic that today the house
does not even have a garage. Ms. Benjamin supports the demolition petition.

The home, for the last five years, was used as an investment/rental property and has been
vacant for the last year while it was for sale. Maintenance was not a priority. There are numerous
leaks in the cedar and metal roofs, with water stains on the walls and water puddle damage to the hard
wood floors. The small basement/boiler room area is so damp and musty, some workers refuse to g0
down there without a respirator.



Areas of exterior rot are also apparent upon examination around the lower clap board siding,
door panels and fascia near gutters. The original double hung windows that can be seen from the front
and west facing are in serious need of repair. All other windows in the house have been replaced and
modified with elongated crank out casement windows or fixed double glazed large panels..

As mentioned above, Mr. LaPlace has no intention of developing the property other that
maintaining grass, trees and the former tree house as a storage building or playhouse for the children of
any future owners. He does intend to keep the parcel as a separate entity with the utility services
capped off for possible future connections and development after his estate is liquidated.

Additionally, there is an out building referred to as the Tool House. In her report, Susan
Benjamin speculated that it might be moved to Mr. LaPlace's other property for preservation.
Although it does have a unique sloping curved welded steel entry roof, it is badly rusted. The wooden
headers which support the roof are seriously rotted. There is also structural rot in other locations along
the building roof line. In addition, three sides of the building have been sheathed with synthetic
clapboard siding.

Standard 1  Whether the property, structure or object is of such historic, cultural, architectural or archaeological
significance that its demolition would be detrimental to the public interest and contrary to the general
welfare of the people of the city and the state.

The house is located on a curved single lane private drive some 150 yards east of Mayflower
Road. The property has many trees and bushes so that the house is barely visible from Mayflower.
The impact to the neighborhood is non-existent with the Nancy Hughes estate immediately to the north
and separated by a substantial 7' cedar wall that runs from Mayflower to the Lake Michigan bluff. To
the south is the David Moore property whose lane parallels Mr. LaPlace's and with whom he plans to
enhance the already dense evergreen and foliage divider.

Standard Z = Whether the property, structure or object contributes to the distinctive historic, cultural, architectural or
archeological character of the District as a whole and should be preserved for the benefit of the people of
the city and state.

This house does not contribute in any way to the aforementioned question. Mr. LaPlace's
beautiful home on the lake at 261 Mayflower does not even qualify for a Lake Forest Preservation
Foundation award because of its modifications and additions. The 259 house is far inferior in
construction and design and has had even greater modifications.

Standard 3 Whether the demolition of the property, structure or object would be contrary to the purpose and intent of
this Chapter and to the objectives of the historic preservation for the applicable District.

Because of its location, this house is practically non-existent as a visible entity of Lake Forest.
It is a structure, however, that Mr. LaPlace has had to watch deteriorate for the past twenty years
because driving past it is the only access to his home. After the years of turnover and renters, Mr.
LaPlace deserves to spend his remaining years in the comfort and quiet of his home that he and his late
wife loved.



Standard 4  Whether or material that it could not be reproduced with the property, structure or object is of such old,
unusual or uncommon design, texture, and/or material that it could not be reproduced without great
difficulty and/or expense.

This house could easily be reproduced by any contractor. It is simply a wood framed, cedar
clapboard exterior, cedar shake roof with multiple dormers. Half of the house sits on concrete slabs
the other half over a musty, damp crawl space with a small boiler room in between. There is nothing
unique or unusual about the house except for its unfortunate modifications.

Standard 5 Except in cases where the owner has no plans for a period of up to five years to replace and existing
Landmark or property, structure or object in a District, no Certificate of Appropriateness shall be issued
until plans for a replacement structure or object have been reviewed and approved by the Commission,

This standard does not apply because Mr. LaPlace has no plans for development and intents to
make the property a green space entrance to his home on the lake.

I hope that these answers and explanations are appropriate in supporting the request for
demolition of the house at 259 Mayflower Road. I would also like to thank the City staff in their help
in bringing this request together and to you, the Commissioners, for your time and consideration in
this matter.

Sincerely,
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Executive Summary

Desmond LaPlace, the owner of the property at 261 N. Mayflower Road, purchased the adjacent
property at 259 N. Mayflower Road on June 23, 2020. Mr. LaPlace wishes to demolish the
building located at 259 N. Mayflower Road. After performing extensive research to investigate
the history of the building and the significance of its architecture, Benjamin Historic
Certifications believes that the story of the building’s owners and the building’s architecture are
an important part of the history of Lake Forest and needs to be documented, with this
documentation accessible to the public even if the building is no longer standing. Architect
Ambrose Cramer’s work is important; unfortunately changes that were made subsequent to his
involvement severely compromise the building’s integrity and diminish its significance.

The building began as a stables for the house at 261 N. Mayflower Road, which was designed in
1899 by Arthur Heun and re-designed in 1957 by Herman Lackner. In 1936, the stables were
remodeled as a garage/servants’ quarters by Ambrose Cramer; in 1940 he added a section that
incorporated a living, dining, master bedroom area that served as a family residence. Cramer
was a distinguished architect from one of the most prominent families in Lake Forest. Cramer
studied architecture at Yale University and the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris. He subsequently
worked and trained with Henry Dangler and David Adler. Cramer designed the garage/staff
residence, which may be described as a coach house, for his step-sister, Isabelle McGenniss
Ryerson, daughter of one of the four Corwith sisters and wife of Donald Ryerson, the son of
Edward L. Ryerson, Sr. The coach house is a relatively small, but rambling, Colonial Revival
building that has some handsome detailing and fits comfortably in its setting; it has many of the
elegant Colonial Revival features associated with Ambrose Cramer’s work, and the influence of
David Adler, especially on the interior, is noteworthy. This building, as described in great detail
in “Humorous Hubbub,” Tony Ryerson’s Memoirs, perfectly suited the Ryerson family’s
differing needs for a period of over thirty years.

The exterior of the building has many features that are characteristic of Colonial Revival houses.
The interior of the residential portion of the building, along the west side of the property, is
virtually intact as designed by Cramer, and has had minimal alterations. The garage, which was
attached to the residence on the east side, also designed by Cramer, was converted into
residential space in the 1970s. At around the same time, changes that included the addition of
crown moldings and bifold closet doors were made to the chauffeur’s quarters adjacent to the
garage.

The exterior of the “tool house” building, on the northeast side of the property, also designed by
Cramer, has mixed integrity. While the interior has been modified, the graceful exterior is
particularly reflective of Cramer’s deft touch and his time working with David Adler.



We recognize that it is unlikely that an owner would be required to save half of a building. It is
for that reason that we recommend that tke building and tool house be documented, and that this
report and photographs be placed on file with the History Center of Lake Forest-Lake Bluff.
While these buildings may be demolished, their significance requires such measures.

259 N. 261 N
Mayflower T Mayflower
Road B Road

Satellite Image of Google Map
259 N. Mayflower Road, Lake Forest

History of the Property

The building located at 259 N. Mayflower Road was designed by distinguished local architect
Ambrose C. Cramer (who was born Ambrose Cramer, Jr.). Constructed in 1936 and 1940 (with
additions and subsequent remodeling), the structure was noted as contributing to the significance
of the recently-updated National Register of Historic Places “Lake Forest Historic District.”

The property where the one-and-a-half story clapboard building that was the stables, then garage,
for the house at 261 N. Mayflower Road' was part of the McGenniss Baker subdivision that was
recorded on April 24, 1902. In 1978, the property upon which 261 Mayflower Road was situated
was divided into two lots: Lot 1, which includes the main house, located at 261 N. Mayflower
Road, and Lot 2, which created the Peter G. Danis subdivision, where 259 N. Mayflower is
located.?

' 261 Mayflower was a three-story shingled house designed by Arthur Heun in 1899, and re-designed by
architect Herman Lackner in 1957. Today, 261 Mayflower generally retains the appearance from the 1957 design.
2261 Mayflower Road, City of Lake Forest Permit dated April 14, 1980.



The property has an interesting history tied to several prominent Lake Forest families. Anthony
(“Tony”) Ryerson, who grew up at 261 N. Mayflower, detailed the history of the property that
includes 259 N. Mayflower in a memoir written in 1999 that is located in the collection of the
History Center of Lake Forest-Lake Bluff.

The story begins with the four Corwith sisters who were daughters of Chicago real estate
investor Henry Corwith (1920 — 1880) and Isabelle Soulard (1828 — 1922). They all lived along
the lakefront in Lake Forest, on or very near N. Mayflower Road. They were:

e Mary Corwith Baker, who married Alfred L. Baker, and who lived at “Little Orchard,”
255 Mayflower Road, designed in 1898 by Howard Van Doren Shaw;

e Antoinette Corwith Dangler, married to Charles Dangler and mother of architect Henry
Dangler, who partnered with David Adler (until Dangler’s untimely death in 1917, and
with whom Ambrose Cramer worked); who lived at “Fairmore,” 77 N. Stone Gate Road,
c. 1900, 1928, designed by Alfred Granger, renovations by Roy Binkley;

e Eliza Corwith Hamill, married to Ernest Hamill, who lived at “Ballyatwood,” 433 N.
Mayflower Road, built in 1906 and designed by Spencer & Powers, and

¢ Isabelle “Bombie” Corwith McGenniss Cramer (1861 — 1954).

Isabelle Corwith (“Bombie™) was born in 1861 in Galena, Illinois, and married Charles B.
McGenniss (1858 — 1891) on January 12, 1888. The couple built the original shingle-style house
at 261 Mayflower Road in 1899 (designed by architect Arthur Heun, and documented in Inland
Architect)’ and they had a daughter named Isabelle Corwith McGenniss (1888 — 1976). After
Charles B. McGenniss died in 1891, Bombie McGenniss married businessman and banker
Ambrose Cramer, Sr. (1857 - 1927). '

Ambrose Cramer, Sr. had previously been married to a woman named Susan Skinner, and
together they had two children: Elizabeth and Ambrose, Jr. (1891 — 1970). Ambrose Cramer, Jr.
grew up to be the architect who designed 259 Mayflower Road. Cramer Jr.’s mother Susan
Skinner died in 1898.

3 The Inland Architect and News Record XXXIII, no. 6, January, 1899.



Ambrose Cramer Sr. with his children: Elizabeth and Ambrose, Jr.
John Curtis Ager, We Plow God'’s Fields: The Life of James G.K. McClure, 1991

When Ambrose Cramer, Sr. and Bombie married, they built and moved into Rathmore, 57
Stonegate Road (designed in 1896 by F.W. Stickney), along with Ambrose’s children Elizabeth
and Ambrose Cramer Jr., and Bombie’s daughter Isabelle McGenniss. Ambrose Cramer, Jr. and
Isabelle McGenniss grew up together.

Elizabeth Cramer swinging, Ambrose, Jr. sitting on ground at left, holding bow. Step sister Isabelle
McGenniss is at right. Undated photograph, undisclosed location.
John Curtis Ager, We Plow God'’s Fields: The Life of James G.K. McClure, 1991



After Bombie and Ambrose Cramer moved to Rathmore, the house at 261 Mayflower Road was
rented to the Ferry family, possibly the children of Abby Farwell Fetry of Lake Road.* Bombie
gave the house at 261 Mayflower to her daughter, Isabelle McGenniss, probably around the time
of her daughter’s October, 1911 wedding to Donald M. Ryerson (1884 —1932).

Isabelle Corwith McGenniss (“Bombie”) Cramer, Isabelle Corwith McGenniss Ryerson,
Isabelle Corwith
ca. 1891, Ryerson Memoirs

4 “McGenniss/Ryerson/La Place Residence, 261 Mayflower Road,” Art Miller 2016; rev. August 4, 2019.



261 Mayflower, 1899, Arthur Heun architect
Lake Forest Preservation Foundation 11t Annual Historic Preservation Awards
Nomination Form, 2001
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Donald Ryerson was the grandson of Joseph T. Ryerson (1813-1883), founder of the Joseph T.
Ryerson & Son, Inc. steel company, and the son of Edward L. Ryerson Sr. (1854 — 1928). Upon
the death of Edward L. Ryerson Sr., his sons Edward L. Ryerson, Jr., Joseph, and Donald
assumed leadership of the company, known by then as J.T. Ryerson & Son, Inc. In 1935, the
business merged with Inland Steel Corporation. During the 1950s, Inland Steel was among the
ten largest steel companies in the United States.®

Donald and Isabelle McGenniss Ryerson had three children: Donald Ryerson, Jr., who died in
infancy, a daughter Isabelle Joan (Brewster), and a son Anthony (“Tony”) Mitchell Ryerson
(1918 —2002). Donald Ryerson, Sr. died in 1932. His wife Isabelle hired local architect Herman
Lackner to re-design the interior and exterior of 261 Mayflower Road in 1957.

261 Mayflower, after 1957 renovations by Herman Lackner, architect
1995 Photo, Ryerson Memoirs

5 “Inland Steel,” Encyclopedia of Chicago, http://www.encyclopedia.chicagohistory.org/pages/642.html
accessed July 20, 2020.




In 1999, Tony Ryerson wrote his Memoirs which provide an intimate look into the family’s life
at 261 and 259 Mayflower Road. He wrote that the garages to the west of the main house at 261
Mayflower Road that were originally old converted barns that housed horses and cars, became
known by the family as Monoxide Towers (a humorous reference to carbon monoxide produced
by automobiles).® Ryerson noted that his uncle Ambrose Cramer was the architect for the
“beautifully designed” Monoxide Towers.”

Isabelie Corwith McGenniss Ryerson Anthony “Tony” M. Ryerson
ca. 1910, Ryerson Memoirs May, 1988, Ryerson Memoirs

¢ Ryerson, Anthony M., Humorous Hubbub: Memoirs of Anthony Mitchell Ryerson, as told to Margo Giffin
Ryerson, privately published (1999): 24. Nancy Ryerson Milliken said that the name Monoxide Towers was a joke,
because the building was “mainly garages.” Interviews with Nancy Ryerson Milliken, July 28, 29, 2020.

7 Ibid. at 88.



Permits

Permits for the property were reviewed at the City of Lake Forest. The first permit reviewed at
the City of Lake Forest that pertains to this building is dated March 12, 1936, and it grants Mrs.
Donald M. Ryerson (Isabelle) a permit to build a private three-car, two-story garage and
servants’ quarters at 261 Mayflower Road. Isabelle Ryerson’s step brother Ambrose Cramer is
listed as the architect. The garage were to have nine rooms, one attic and one basement, with one
bath and one shower, three lavatories, three toilets and three sinks.
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Original construction permit for garage, March 12, 1936

Not long after the original construction permit was granted, a permit was issued to allow Mrs.

Ryerson to demolish the servants® quarters (?) at the property. The permit is difficult to read and
hard to interpret.
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Permit to wreck (servants quarters?) March 24, 1936
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According to Ryerson’s Memoirs, the first occupant of the garage and servants’ quarters was
Anderson, a gardener, who took care of the fruit, flower and vegetable gardens on the 13-acre

property of 261 Mayflower Road. Following Anderson was Fred Baumgartner, a chauffeur and
handyman.

Later, in August, 1936, a permit was issued to Mrs. Ryerson build a greenhouse on the property.
Ambrose Cramer is listed as the architect.
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Permit to build greenhouse, August 31, 1936

The greenhouse, which was buiit on the north side of the building, is shown on the 1977 Plat of
Subdivision. It remained extant until 2000 when the owner demolished it.

While the date is hard to read on the permit, either in 1936 or 1939, Mrs. Ryerson again hired her
step-brother Ambrose Cramer to design a “tool house” on the property.
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. A permit was granted in 1939 to build an addition to the residence. It is not.clear if this
permit allowed an addition to the building now at 259 or 261 N. Mayflower.
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On October 12, 1940, Isabelle’s son Tony married Margaret Hutchins, known as “Dusa,”
daughter of investment banker James C. Hutchins. Prior to their marriage, in February of that
same year, Isabelle built an additional residence on her property at 261 N. Mayflower. Once
again, Ambrose Cramer was the architect.
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Permit to build residence, February 15, 1940

It is most likely that this permit was the original construction permit for the residential portion of
259 N. Mayflower Road along the west side of the building, attached to the existing east side
garage and servants’ quarters. The permit called for a residence of seven rooms, one attic, and no
basement. There is only a single basement area in the house, located under the front entrance
hall. There would be two baths, two lavatories, two toilets and one sink. It seems that Isabelie
Ryerson built this as a honeymoon cottage and residence for her son Tony and his wife Dusa.
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On May 22, 1940, a permit was issued to Mrs. Ryerson to build an addition to the residence
(permit #2217). It is not clear what was permitted to be added.
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When Tony and Dusa Ryerson returned from their honeymoon in 1940, the couple moved into
the building. Tony Ryerson described the building in his Memoirs:

The [Monoxide] Towers had an exquisitely large living room with open
stained beams, lovely bay windows, and a fireplace. Off the living room
was a tiny, cozy dining room. Off the dining room was a screened-in
porch that we called the “fly cage” which was next to my mother’s
greenhouses which were on the east side of the house. Then off to the west
of the living room was the master suite with bay window, fireplace, and
good dimensions. Upstairs was not redone, but had two rooms and a bath.
Also, attached to the Towers on the east was a small one-bedroom and
bath apartment for the family chauffeur and all-around-handyman, Fred
Baumgartner, who seemed to use the bath not for washing himself but for
the washing of car tires.®

§ Ryerson, 24.

14



Monoxide Towers, 259 Mayflower Road, 1995
Ryerson Memoirs

While Tony was in the service during World War II, Dusa Ryerson and their infant daughter
Sheila lived in Monoxide Towers. While Ryerson mentioned that while the attic wasn’t “redone,”
after the Ryersons’ daughter Sheila was born, Dusa’s former nurse “Poody” (named Marie
Larson) moved into the building “upstairs” to care for Sheila.’

When Tony was discharged from the service, sometime in 1945 but prior to the end of the war,
he returned to Monoxide Towers. Because Dusa was expecting another child and their family
was growing beyond the space provided by the little coach house, Tony and Dusa “switched
houses” with Isabelle — Tony Ryerson and his family moved into the larger, original house at
261 Mayflower, and Tony’s mother Isabelle moved into Monoxide Towers At some point,
Isabelle’s mother Isabelle Cramer was no longer happy living in the very large Rathmore estate,
and she moved into Monoxide Towers to be with her daughter Isabelle Ryerson.

By the late 1940s, Ambrose Cramer also designed “Mt. Gordon,” a home in Virginia for Isabelle
Ryerson and her mother Isabelle Cramer, where the women lived together and where Isabelle

° Ryerson, 91.
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Ryerson rode horses.!® When Isabelle Ryerson and her mother Isabelle Cramer returned to Lake
Forest from Virginia, they lived together in-Monoxide Towers."!

While Tony Ryerson and his wife were living in 261 Mayflower Road, they purchased five acres
from the property next deor and built a new contemporary house at 263 Mayflower Road,
designed by architect Charles Dornbusch and completed in 1950. Tony and his family moved
into the new house and Isabelle Ryerson and her mother Isabelle Cramer moved back into the
main house at 261 Mayflower.!2 After that, Monoxide Towers “stayed empty.”!*> However, the
Ryerson family continued to own both 259 and 261 Mayflower Road. During an interview
conducted with current Lake Forest resident Nancy Ryerson Milliken, daughter of Tony and
Dusa Ryerson, Nancy recalled “the lovely bay windows and rafters” of Monoxide Towers when
she grew up at 263 Mayflower Road.

263 N. Mayflower Road, built 1950, Ryerson Memoirs

10 Ryerson, 126.

11 Ryerson, 23.

12 In 1957, architect Herman Lackner remodeled the interior and exterior of 261 Mayflower Road.

13 Ryerson, 128. See also, Research from LF/LB Telephone Directories, History Center of Lake Forest -
Lake Bluff, attached in Appendix.
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Isabelle Cramer died in 1954 and her daughter Isabelle Ryerson died in 1976. Upon Isabelle

Ryerson’s death, her son Tony inherited 261 Mayflower Road and he sold the property “with the

converted garage” in 1977.14

A realtor’s card found at the History Center of Lake Forest-Lake Bluff dated January 28, 1977

includes a hand-written notation indicating that 261 Mayflower sold on May 11, 1977. The

property included a coach house with 9 rooms, 4 baths, 2 fireplaces, a 3-car garage, workroom,

greenhouse and implement shed.!’
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15 January 29, 1977 Realtor Card, attached in Appendix.
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The new owner of the property was Peter G. Danis. In 1977, Danis subdivided the property into
two lots: 261 and 259.1¢ -

greenhouse

tool house

Peter G. Danis Plat of Subdivision, July 28, 1977

On April 14, 1980 the building received an official house number (259) from the City of Lake

Forest:

Ty €9 of Lake Foreit Hlinsie
CFFGIAL HOUSE NUMBER

The City of Lake Forest, Illinois Official House Number, April 4, 1980

18 Plat of Subdivision dated July 28, 1977.
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Tony Ryerson recalled: “Monoxide Towers stayed empty once we built our own house and
Mother moved back into her house. After herdeath, I sold 261 Mayflower with the converted
garage/cottage to Peter Danis who split the property and sold off the Monoxide Towers to two
gentlemen, one of which was an interior designer. The gentlemen did some wonderful
renovations and expansion. Then the little house was sold to a lovely couple, John and Shirley
Stanzik, who live[d] part of the year in the cottage in Lake Forest and part of the year in
London.”!

The first owner of 259 N. Mayflower Road who was not a Ryerson was John P. Regas. On May
17, 1978 Regas received a permit to alter the roofline and remove the partition between the
kitchen and garage. Presumably, this is when the garage was converted into residential space and
much of the remodeling took place.

The Lake County Recorder of Deeds Office shows that ownership of 259 Mayflower Road
belonged to John P. Regas from 1978 — 1981, John D. Stancik in 1997, Jay Whipple III in 2000,
Taryn Edwards in 2006, and Robert and Susan Moorman from 2016 until June 23, 2020 when
they sold the property to Desmond R. LaPlace, the current owner of 261 Mayflower Road.!® As a
result, 259 Mayflower Road is now under the same ownership of 261 Mayflower Road, as it was
when it was originally built.

Changes to the Property

The most significant change to the property occurred on May 17, 1978 when the roofline was
altered and the partition between the kitchen and garage was removed by owner John P. Regas.
Following that, permits for other changes to the property include:

e April 1, 1981: building was re-plastered, two windows were replaced, a radiator was
replaced and repairs were made to hot water heater pipes by owner John Regas

e April 3, 1981: a private driveway was relocated by owner John P. Regas

e June 16, 1981: repair existing stockade fencing

e November 19, 1997: a new roof over rear flat roof for owner John D. Stancik

e June 1, 2000: the greenhouse was demolished by owner Jay Whipple

e October 13, 2009: a concrete patio was installed by owner Taryn Edwards

e December 4, 2009: a new fence was built by owner Taryn Edwards

o July 14, 2011: the driveway received second lift by owner Taryn Edwards!®

17 Ryerson, 128.

18 L ake County Recorder of Deeds Office, https://www.lakecountyil.gov/258/Recorder-of-Deeds, accessed
July 6, 2020.

19 These permits for changes to the building were received by The City of Lake Forest. Changes to the
property after 259 Mayflower Road was subdivided from 261 Mayflower, including easements, are not part of this
report.
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Overview of property
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Architecture of 259 Mayflower Road

The building at 259 Mayflower Road was originally a stable, then a garage/servants’ quarters,
then a residence for Isabelle Ryerson and her family who lived at 261 Mayflower Road. No
historic drawings or photographs were found, and it is unclear from the permits which portion
was originally designed and which were alterations. The first permit dated March 12, 1936 that
relates to the property allowed for construction of a garage that was 29°2” across, with a width of
62’ 27, and a height of 24°. One bath and shower, three lavatories, three toilets and three sinks
were built. The cost of the 3-car private garage was estimated to be $21,600.00.2° The east side
of the building includes space that was formerly the garage and servants’ quarters with a
bedroom and bathroom.

Permits to build a greenhouse were issued on April 24, 1936, and August 31, 1936. The
greenhouse contained two rooms; the structure was 18” long, 16> wide and 11; high.?! On June
30, 1939, Cramer was given a permit to build a private “tool house” that would be 12 X 12, 9
high, with a bath, porch and screens. The cost was to be $1,200.00.22

The original permit to build a residence on the property, dated February 15, 1940, called for a 7
room building with an attic and no basement, a front of 25°, a width of 5#? feet, and a height of
13°6”, two baths, two lavatories, two toilets and one sink. The building was to be heated by oil,
lighted by electricity, and would cost approximately $10,200.00.23 On May 22, 1940, a permit
was issued allowing for an addition, but it is unclear exactly what was permitted to be added.

Details about the interior of the house designed by Ambrose Cramer were found in Tony
Ryerson’s Memoirs. He notes that the first story-of the house had a large paneled living room
with open stained beams, bay windows and a fireplace. Off the living room was a dining room,
and off of that was a screened in porch that was next to a greenhouse, both of which were later
demolished. To the west of the living room was the master suite with bay window and fireplace.
The second story was not finished, but had two rooms and a bath, and a nurse for Sheila Ryerson
lived there. Attached on the east side was a one-bedroom and bath apartment for the chauffeur.?*
Nothing is mentioned about a kitchen or servants’ quarters in the residence. It is not clear what
was added in 1939 and 1940, or where the April 24, 1939 and May 22, 1940 permits allow
additions. It is possible, but not certain, that the second bedroom on the northeast side of the
kitchen is an addition.

20 City of Lake Forest Permit #1628, March 12, 1936.

2! City of Lake Forest Permit #1644, April 31, 1936.

22 City of Lake Forest Permit 1850, June 30, 1939.

2 City of Lake Forest Permit #2217, February 15, 1940.
24 Ryerson, 88.
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Currently, there are two stairways leading to the second floor: one accessed from the master suite
off of the living room, and another in the front hall.- The first change to the building that is
documented by a permit occurred when the first owner after the two properties were subdivided,
John P. Regas, altered the roof line and removed the partition between the kitchen and the
garage, thus converting the garage to livable space.?

Cramer designed the building in a refined, elegant Colonial Revival manner, which was popular
beginning in the 1920s, and continued to be so into the 1930s and 1940s. Shingle Style
architecture, like that of 261 N. Mayflower was out of style (except for along the beach colonies
of the Eastern Seaboard). It wasn’t until 1957 that architect Herman Lackner re-designed the
interior and exterior of the house at 261 Mayflower Road, converting the shingle style house to a
simplified Colonial Revival.

The 1977 Plat of Subdivision shows the outline of the house around the time the property was
first subdivided from 261 Mayflower Road. As shown on the Plat, the driveway led to the
garage. To the west of the garage is the residence showing the living room on the left, with a
bump out for a bay window on the west elevation, and the master suite extending north.
Immediately east of the master suite was the small dining room; it was designed with a bay
window on the north side. The original garage had three stalls. The three car garage was divided
up into two rooms. A bay window was added to the west room, which was converted into a
dining room with the addition of a fireplace and crown molding. The east room, which consisted
of two garage stalls, has been converted into a large family room. The north side of the building
shows the greenhouse (demolished) and the east side of the building shows the “tool house” that
was designed by Ambrose Cramer.

Exterior

The 1 1/2 -story asymmetrical white clapboard Colonial Revival house is rectangular in plan,
with a number of extensions facing north in the rear. The front elevation faces a bluestone terrace
looking south toward Mayflower Road; the east elevation has a view of 261 N. Mayflower Rgad
and Lake Michigan; the north elevation faces a wood fence and neighboring property, and the
west elevation faces a long side yard. The front door, which is located to the west of the center of
the building, is paneled, with 12-lite sidelights on either side and leads into the residence. The
front entrance configuration, the multipane double-hung windows with shutters, the gabled roofs
with dormers and clapboard facades are all character-defining features of Colonial Revival
architecture. The garage openings were located on the east side of the building with an entrance
for the servants on the far east side of the building, facing the front. The living room views south,
and has a dutch door that leads to the front bluestone terrace, and also views to the west, toward
the expansive side yard. The current dining room (former garage stall), faces south onto the
terrace. The bay window was added at some point after the 1977 Plat of Subdivision. The French

23 City of Lake Forest Permit #14397, May 18, 1978.
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doors in the current family room that were garage openings, face the driveway. The first floor
master suite is to the north of the living room; east of the master bedroom is a patio, which might
have been the screened in porch referred to as the “fly-trap” by Ryerson in his Memoirs. There is
a second bedroom, which may have been an addition, and a “dining patio,” which was originally
near the location of the demolished greenhouse. The original servants’ quarters are entered from
the front on the east side of the house next to the former garage stalls. Its bedroom faces north.
There is a tree house and half tennis court to the east. The tree house is decidedly Post Modern,
with a round window. The “tool house” is located north and east of the coach house.

Front facade

East of the front door is a band of divided multi-lite windows that light the current dining room,
and further east are two sets of divided French doors with black paneled shutters, which were
openings for the original garage doors, but which now light the family room. To the right of the
French doors is a paneled door that leads to the original servants’ quarters.

The side-facing gable roof line is divided into four sections: the front entrance is under one
section, to the right is a higher pitched roof line with three front-facing gable dormers with six-
over-six double-hung windows, and to the east of that is a slightly recessed roofline that is in line
with the roof over the living room, to the west of the front entrance. The cedar shake roof is
supported by square posts and slightly overhangs the front entrance and a larger overhang covers
the dining room and family room to the east of the front entrance. A bluestone terrace is lined
with white brick knee walls with landscaping.

To the left of the front door are two six-over-six double hung windows with white window
boxes, and a paneled dutch door with a divided lite that leads to the bluestone terrace, all
surrounded by black paneled shutters. These windows illuminate the living room and the dutch
door leads inside to the living room.
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Front fagade, south elevation

Front fagade looking north, bluestone terrace
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Front fagade, east side, looking northwest, servants’ entrance on right
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West elevation

The west elevation features a west facing gable on the south end with a projecting bay window
with fixed twelve-over-twelve and six-over-six windows on either side. The bay window lights
the west side of the living room. To the north of the bay window are two divided four-over-four
windows on either side of a six-over-six double hung window, and two six-over-six divided
double hung windows, all surrounded by black paneled shutters. These windows light the master
bedroom suite; dressing room on the south and bedroom on the north. A brick chimney rises
from the north end of the master suite.

West elevation



North elevation -

The north elevation of the building features bump outs for the master bedroom on the west side,
with a painted brick chimney. The second story of the master bedroom wing has two divided
circular windows, one on the nerth elevation and one on the east elevation. (It is unclear if these
were added when the tree house was built. Post Modern architecture was becoming popular in
the 1970s). There is a patio that likely was the screened in porch that Ryerson described in his
Memoirs. It is surrounded by the master bedroom and a second bedroom. There is currently a
green lattice screened-in dining patio, which was the site of the demolished greenhouse, with
sliding doors that lead into the new family room. The second story of the north elevation has
three north facing dormers that match the dormers on the front elevation. A band of divided
windows on the east side of the north elevation light the bedroom that was most likely the
chauffeur’s room.

North elevation, west side North elevation west side
master bedroom facing west master bedroom looking southwest
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Patio extending from kitchen, looki

ng north, second bedroom

on left
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East elevation

The east elevation features six-over-six divided double hung windows that light the servants’
quarters. Latticed fencing, the tree house, tall non-deciduous shrubs, a half tennis court and the
“tool house™ are all situated on the east side of the building.

The wood tree house has an outdoor balcony built around a living tree and a divided round
window above an elongated divided rectangular window. Other fenestration includes six-over-
six divided double hung windows facing south. The interior of the tree house is lined with wood
and features a built-in bunk bed. It is not clear from the permits when the tree house was built,
but it may have been in the 1970s.

—
ot
—

Tree House, looking west

Treehouse, looking east toward Lake Michigan
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The entire property is surrounded by lattice wood fencing, painted green or white. Open areas on
the rear of the house, north elevation, are surrounded by green lattice fencing, and some
elevations of the house and the tool house are covered with white lattice fencing. It is not clear if
the fencing is historic.

To the east of the building is a white painted lattice wood fence that divides the yard and leads to
the tool house. The tool house is an elegantly-designed square white clapboard building that
references the white clapboards of the garage/residence. Ambrose Cramer’s training with David
Adler is readily apparent here. The south elevation of the tool house is covered with white
painted lattice panels, and features two double hung windows. The interior may have been used
for storage, but the exterior design, with its thoughtfully-conceived detailing, reflects a high-style
aesthetic.

South side of tool house, facing north
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North side of tool house, facing southwest

The north elevation of the tool house is covered with diamond patterned lattice panels and
features French doors. The front (west) fagade of the structure that faces the main house (which
originally faced the greenhouse and probably gardens) is symmetrical, and features a concrete
porch, covered by a flared metal pagoda roof supported by wood posts that reference the wood
posts on the front facade of the garage/residence. Oval empty niches in panels that are fitted with
mounts for statuary are placed on either side of divided French doors with black shutters. A
herringbone patterned brick walkway leads from the tool house to the north concrete patio of the
main house, separated by two brick piers. This small structure resembles a “folly” and is
reminiscent of the one David Adler designed for the William McCormick Blair house. It is
unclear why the building was called a “tool house.” Presumably it was used for storage.
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Tool house, looking east
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Tool house, looking east
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Tool house interior, facing southeast

To the east of the tool house is a half tennis short court with a basketball hoop and a bocce or
boules court, both surrounded by tall non-deciduous shrubs. The courts are connected to the
north side of the tool house and the dining patio on the main house by a brick lined sidewalk that
runs around the perimeter of the northeast side of the property. Permits don’t indicate when these
courts were added to the property.? '

Tennis half court, looking north

26 An easement on the property is recorded, but because it does not involve the building, is not discussed in
this report.
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Interior

First floor

The front entry on the south elevation leads to a foyer with non-historic tile on the floor, plaster
walls with a non-historic stylized acanthus leaf crown and a stairway leading to the second floor
on the west side. A square opening.on the west side of the foyer leads to the living room; a short
hallway with doors leading to a closet and the basement (which is only under the entrance hall)
leads into the kitchen on the north side; on the east side is an open doorway (with hinges, but
with the door removed) that leads to the space that historically was the west garage but was
remodeled into a dining room in the 1970s.

=

~ Front Foyer, looking north toward kitchen

Front foyer, looking east toward current
dining room, former garage
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The living room is rectangular, with an open truss beamed ceiling. The walls are plaster, and the
base of the wall to chair rail height and ceiling are covered with knotted wood paneling. The
ceiling beams rest on large crown molding that runs the perimeter of the room. The floor is
historic quarter sawn oak. The north wall of the living room features a paneled fireplace with a
stone surround and hearth. The ﬁrepiace is flanked by mirrored niches with glass shelves. The
paneling below the niche to the left of the fireplace opens for firewood storage. Above the
fireplace is wood parieling. To the right of the fireplace is the entrance to the historic dining
room and to the left of the fireplace is the entrance to a small staircase to the second floor.

Living room, looking west
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Living room, west side, looking north to master suite
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There are two symmetrical openings on the east wall. To-the north is a shallow cabinet or closet
and to the south, the open entry to the foyer. The west wall features a bay window that looks out
over the west lawn. The south wall features two divided windows and a dutch door that leads to
the front terrace. A non-original large glass chandelier hangs from the ceiling. With the
exception of the chandelier, the living room is intact and seemingly as Cramer designed it.
Intended to be rustic, the living room is similar to other wood paneled rooms in country estates,
and perhaps recalls the former stables that preceded the garage. David Adler designed a pine
paneled living room addition in 1941 to his country house in Libertyville.

Living room, looking southwest Living room, looking northeast
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259 Mayflower, undated photograph
History Center of Lake Forest-Lake Bluff No. 2017.6.36

Undated rendering, sent to James Opsitnik by previous owner
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A door on the northwest side of the living room leads to the master suite. Some walls are plaster;
others have painted white paneling. The floor is quarter-sawn oak. The door from the living
room opens into to a small room with a closet and a staircase that leads to the second floor. A
paneled wall separates this space from the dressing area. This may have been added when the
Ryersons’ nurse moved into the space above the master bedroom.

Living room, door to hallway with Master suite hallway staircase to
staircase to second floor second floor

Currently, access to the master suite is through the historic dining room. A small hall leads to a
room with six-over-six divided double-hung windows on the west side and a non-historic
bathroom on the east side. The room has paneled walls and paneled and mirrored closet doors.
The master bedroom, on the north side, has six-over-six double-hung windows on the west wall,
a fireplace with a blue and white delft-style tile surround, a brick herringbone firebox, and
paneling above. David Adler frequently incorporated Delft tile in his designs. It is found in the
fireplace surround in the dining room of the William McCormick Blair house and as baseboard
in the living room of the Jesse L. Strauss House in Glencoe. Two divided double hung windows
face north on either side of the fireplace, which has paneling above it.
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Dressing room, looking south
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Master bedroom looking north

Master bedroom looking south
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The master bath has been remodeled and other than its historic location, has no integrity.

Master bath, looking east

A paneled door on the northeast side of the living room and an open doorway from the hall in the

- master suite lead to the original dining room. The floor is wood, the walls are plaster, and dark
stained trim surrounds the open doorways, forms a chair rail and delineates ceiling panels. A
deep bay window on the north side of the room features a paneled door with a divided light,
surrounded by four-over-four double-hung windows. The door opens to the patio, which
originally was likely the screened in porch (now demolished) mentioned in Ryerson’s Memoirs.
The patio is enclosed on the sides by the master bedroom on the west and a second bedroom on
the right. An open doorway on the east side of the room leads to the kitchen.
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Original dining room, looking north

The kitchen is on the north side of the building, to the east of the original dining room. The only
features that are historic in the kitchen are original windows that face north over the sink. The
kitchen opens directly to the large breakfast room on the east and a butler’s pantry on the south,
which were most likely part of the original garage.

Kitchen, looking east



Breakfast room, looking east Breakfast room, looking northeast
Servants® quarters at far east Tool house visible through window

The non-historic dining room, which is accessed on the southwest side from the entry foyer, is
also accessed through the butler’s pantry and was the west stall of the original garage. The dining
room features the same stylized non-historic acanthus leaf cornice as the foyer, a non-historic
fireplace on the east side of the room and a non-historic projecting bay of divided-light windows
facing south and looking out over the front terrace.

Dining Room, looking north
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Dining room, looking southeast

The family room, which was originally part of the garage, has two sets of divided French doors
facing the front porch and blue stone terrace on the south. Non-historic built-in bookshelves and
a fireplace line the west wall of the family room. The ceiling is lower in areas due to installation
of duct work. A door on the east side of the room leads to the space that was originally the
servants’ bedroom.

Family room, formerly garage Family room, formerly garage
looking east looking south
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Extending north from the kitchen is a second bedroom, which may have been an addition for
servants or for Isabelle Ryerson or Isabelle Cramer. The room is visible as a bump out on the
1977 Plat of Subdivision. The walls are plaster and the floor is wood that is not quarter-sawn.
Fixed and casement windows look out onto the patio, which may have been the “flytrap”
screened in porch that Tony mentioned in his Memoirs, accessed from the door in the original
dining room.

Second bedroom, looking north Second bedroom, looking southeast
Original dining room and master
bedroom visible through window

48



The original construction permit to build a garage included plans for servants’ quarters. Located
on the far east side of the first floor, the servants’ quarters included a bedroom, shower and tub.
The quarters are accessed from a door to the front terrace on the south elevation, and from
double doors on the northeast side of the family room, which was previously the garage.

RE

Former servants’ quarters bedroom, looking south
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Remodeled bathtub area in former servants’ quarters
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Second Floor .

A second floor is divided into two areas. These two areas are on the west side over the residence
and the east side over the former garage. They are not joined. The west side second floor is
above the master suite, accessed by a small staircase just north of the living room. The space
includes a bedroom, closet and a bathroom. A door on the east side of the room leads to a
diamond patterned lattice lined roof top terrace. The room has six-over-six divided double hung
windows on the east side and a non-historic divided circular window on the north side.
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View from door on second floor bedroom #4 to second story deck,
looking southeast



The east side second floor is accessed from the front foyer stairs, and is above the former garage
space and current dining room and family room. This space consists of an open arched entry
Jeading to a long hallway lined with shelving and built in cabinets, and two bedrooms and two
bathrooms on the south side. Dormer windows, on both the north and south sides, feature six-
over-six double hung windows with wood shutters. Floors are wood and lighting consists of one
ceiling mounted fixture and can lights. This area either is not historic or has been remodeled to
the extent that there is little or no historic integrity.
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Second floor, east side, looking east
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Second floor, east side bedrooms, facing south
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Ambrose Coghill Cramer, Jr., Architect (1891 -1970)
Ambrose Cramer was a logical choice to design the
conversion of the stables to a garage/servants’
quarters/residence on the property at 261 N. Mayflower
Road. He was the son of Ambrose Cramer and step-son of
Isabelle Corwith- McGenniss Cramer, and half-brother of
Isabelle McGenniss Ryerson, who owned the property. He
was.a cousin to architect Henry Dangler, who worked with
David Adler. Cramer grew at Rathmore with Isabelle
Ryerson in Lake Forest, surrounded by neighboring
relatives. Furthermore, he was a successful architect who
had worked for David Adler and, on his own, designed
Beaux Arts houses that comfortably fit within the context
of historical revival architecture in Lake Forest and the Ambrose C. Cramer

North Shore. ‘ History Center of Lake Forest-Lake Bluff

Cramer was born on October 17, 1891. He took one class in architecture at Yale, graduating in
1913, and it appeared that his intention was to work “in the bond business.”*’ Apparently
_changing his mind, he took a job with his cousin Henry Dangler’s architectural firm of
Dangler & Adler from 1915 — 1917. Cramer served in World War I in France and received the
French cross of the Legion of Honor. He was an architect for the Great Lakes Naval Training
Station in Illinois until September, 1917; for the remainder of his time in the service he was
on the General Staff of the U.S. Naval Aviation Forces in France. He was awarded three U.S.
Navy citation stars and was made a Chevalier of the French Legion of Honor. He returned to
France to study at the Ecole des Beaux Arts in Paris from 1921 - 1926.2® The Eavesdropper, a
journal for the Class of 1913 of Yale College, noted in April, 1922, that Cramer was
completing his architectural studies at the Beaux Arts in Paris. Contact information was
through Morgan, Harjes & Company, a Paris-based investment bank located at the Place
Vendome, or at Cramer’s Chicago office, Room 1114 of the Monadnock Building.?

After Cramer returned to the United States from France, he re-joined David Adler’s firm,
staying with him from 1927 — 1929, when Cramer left to start his own firm. The
Eavesdropper noted that in 1935 Cramer’s residence was 1388 N. Green Bay Road in Lake

27 Richard Whitfield Robbins, ed., History of the Class of 1913, Yale College, 1 (May 1913): 133.

28 « Ambrose Coghill Cramer,” Forty-Five Year Record, Class of 1913 Yale College, 1958; “Ambrose
Cramer: Gentleman Architect,” History Center of Lake Forest-Lake Bluff,
https://Iflb.passitdown.com/stories/42168, accessed July 14, 2020.

29 The Eavesdropper, Class of 1913, Yale College 6 (April, 1922): 62.
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Forest, and that he was the head of his own architectural firm, Ambrose C. Cramer, Inc., with
offices in Tower Court, Chicago. ** He was licensed to practice architecture throughout the
United States in 1939.°! From 1942 until 1947 he served in various capacities for Lend-Lease,
a program that the United States government enacted to lend or lease war supplies to any
nation deemed vital to the defense of the United States.

Cramer married Grace Meeker, daughter of Arthur Meeker, the general manager of Armour &
Co., and his wife Grace, on April 12, 1916. Donald Ryerson, Isabelle Ryerson’s husband, was
Cramer’s best man. David Adler served as one of the ushers. Mary Meeker, the bride’s younger
sister, was one of the flower girls.>? The couple had two sons: Ambrose C. III, born in Chicago in
1917, and Nevill M. J., born in Paris in 1922. Grace and Ambrose divorced in 1927 and on
March 11, 1929, Cramer married Grace’s younger sister Mary.* In 1930, Cramer designed
Constantia, a Dutch and South African Revival style home in Montecito, Santa Barbara,
California, for his in-laws, Arthur and Grace Meeker.3*

Cramer is known mainly for his work while on staff at David Adler’s firm and through published
articles. Cramer served as draftsman on the Adler-designed Alfred Hamill House in Lake Forest
and “Castle Hill,” the R.T. Crane House in Ipswich Massachusetts, as his initials appear on the
drawings. Cramer designed and lived in one of the townhouses in the Ryerson, Poole, (Henry)
Dangler and Cramer Houses row houses at 2700 — 2710 N. Lakeview Chicago (1916), designed
by Dangler and Adler; these townhouses are now a Chicago landmark. Cramer’s residence, the
townhouse at 2710, which he designed, was published in House and Garden and House Beautiful
in 1930 and 1935, respectively. Constantia, the house Cramer designed for his in-laws in
Montecito, near Santa Barbara, California was published in the September — October 1976
Architectural Digest.

Cramer’s designs in the immediate area include 35 N. Green Bay Road and 51 N. Green Bay
Road in Lake Forest (both Colonial Revival, 1925). In 1938, he restored the Richard Bentley
House, 1435 Lake Road in Lake Forest, originally designed by David Adler and Robert Work in
the Dutch and South African Revival style, a style Cramer used to design his in-laws’ house in
Montecito, California in 1930). In 1936, he designed the Charles C. Kerwin House, 994 Mecadow
Lane Road in the Colonial Revival style. One of his best known buildings is “Brushwood Farm,”

3% The Eavesdropper, Class of 1913, Yale College 12 (May, 1935): 48. “Tower Court” was the former
name of the one block street just to the west of the Water Tower between Chicago Avenue and Pearson Street. By
the 1950s, Tower Court was commonly referred to as North Michigan Avenue. “Bertrand Goldberg in Tower Town
Part I: Bertrand Goldberg’s Commune,” Forgotten Chicago, https:/forgottenchicago.com/features/bertrand-
goldberg-in-tower-town-part-1-bertrand-goldbergs-commune/, accessed August 6, 2020.

>! Sidney Lovett, ed., Forty Five Year Record, Class of 1913, Yale College (1958): 88.

32 «Ambrose C. Cramer Weds Grace Meeker,” Chicago Tribune, April 13, 1916.

33 “Mary Meeker Weds Sister’s Ex-Husband,” Chicago Tribune, March 12, 1929.

** Drawings for the building are included in the University of California Santa Barbara Architecture and
Design Collection, https://oac.cdlib.org/findaid/ark:/13030/cm86m37d0/, accessed July 14, 2020.




the summer house for his uncle Ed, - Mr. and Mrs. Edward L. Ryerson, Jr. It is now included in
the Edward L. Ryerson Area Historic District in Deerfield, illinois (1938, 1940), listed on the
National Register of Historic Places in 1995. Prior ﬁto’de’signing the summer house Cramer had
built a weekend log cabin for them on the Des Plaines River. Now located at the “Ryerson
Conservation Area,” and open to the public, Cramer felt that the Ryerson summer house was his
best work, according to Cramer’s wife Mary .

Outside of Illinois, Cramer designed Fincastle, a horse-country estate in Louisville, Kentucky
and Constantia, in Montecito, California. His non-residential work included designing the
Century Club for the 1933 Century of Progress in Chicago, and the Nalco Chemical Company
headquarters in the western suburbs of Chicago.

In 1947, Cramer and his wife moved to Rockport, Maine. Cramer wrote:

I gave up former residences in Lake Forest and Chicago and moved to
Rockport, Maine, two miles from Camden, an especially attractive
location for boat cruising (sail or power) ‘Down East.” Live in old restored
Green Revival house on beautiful property on Rockport Harbor, giving off
[sic.] Penobscot Bay, about eighty-five miles north of Portland.

I am enjoying life in small rural communities, actively participating in
local activities of all types. Life in a small community, with its emphasis
on human values, is very different from the somewhat anonymous life in
great cities.>

Telephone directories in Rockport, Maine identify Cramer as Rear-Commodore of the Camden
Yacht Club (1949), Assistant Director, Civil Defense and Public Safety Forces (1952), and the
sole architect in Rockport (1960).3

Cramer became active in historic preservation toward the end of his career. He and his wife
bought a house built ¢. 1854, moved it to a harbor side location, and Cramer restored the exterior
and remodeled the interior in 1948. In 1960 the Hanson-Cramer house was documented in the
Historic American Buildings Survey.?® Sadly, it has since been demolished.

35 Edward L. Ryerson Area Historic District, National Register of Historic Places Registration Form,
December 22, 1995. Susan S. Benjamin, who wrote the nomination, interviewed Cramer’s wife Mary as part of her
research on the property.

36 Lovett, ed., 87 — 88.

37 Walsh History Center, Camden Public Library, email request for information

38 Historic American Building Survey, HABS No. ME-7, Hanson-Cramer House, End of Sea Street (moved
from Pascal’s Avenue), Rockport, Knox County, ME, https://www.loc.gov/pictures/item/me0070/, accessed July 28,
2020.

56



Mary Meeker Cramer in the dining room of the Hanson-Cramer residence
Rockport, Maine 1984

Photograph by Arnold Newman for Town & Country

The Downeast Dilettante,

http://thedowneastdilettante blogspot.com/2010/09/, accessed July 20, 2020.

Ambrose and Mary Cramer were very active in the Camden-Rockport Historical Society. They
purchased the ca. 1770 Conway house in Camden, Maine, moved it, and donated it to the
Camden-Rockport Historical Society, which opened as the Conway Homestead Museum in 1962
and listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1969. Additional buildings were
subsequently found, acquired and moved to the site.

Cramer also was instrumental in restoring the industrial Rockport Historic Kiln Area which
features nationally significant lime pits, and Marine Park on Rockport Harbor, which were
documented in the Historic American Buildings Survey in 1960 and

listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1970.
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Cramer served as preservation officer for historic buildings in Maine for the American Institute
of Architects and was a founder and president of the Maine League of Historical Societies and
Museums.?® He was a member of 18 other historical societies, the executive vice president of the
Penobscot Marine Museum in Searsport, and a director of the Knox Memorial Association in
Thomasstown. As a leader in the Rockport Recreation and Developmental Committee, Cramer
was involved with the establishment of Walker Park and Beach, he was a member of the
Advisory Planning Board in Rockport and worked with the State Park and Recreation
Commission. He was a Maine state sponsor and officer in the National Parks Service, a member
and vice chairman of the advisory council of Colby College in Waterville, Maine, a trustee of the
Community Hospital at Camden, Maine, and the Knox County general Hospital in Rockland,
Maine.*° He was a governor of the Megunticook Golf Club, a member and founder of the
Rockport Boat Club, and a nominations officer for Maine for awards and citations for state and
local history. He and his wife Mary were also founding members of the Maine Coast Artists,
now called the Center for Maine Contemporary Art.

Center for Maine Contemporary Art - Founders, 1952
Ambrose Cramer seated in center

Cramer owned a second home in the Phoenix, Arizona, area and served as an advisor and
supporter of the Phoenix Art Museum for many years. He was a member of the Phoenix Fine

39 «] ake Forest Historic District,” Lake Forest National Register of Historic Places, 67.
40 «Ambrose Cramer, Adviser to Phoenix Art Museum,” 4rizona Republic, Phoenix Arizona, November 3,
1970.
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Arts Association and a sponsor of the Phoenix Zoo.*! He died in Maine in 1970, and Mary
Cramer died in 1996.%2

The Lake Forest Historic District

The property at 259 Mayflower Road is included in the Lake Forest Historic District listed on the
National Register of Historic Places. While it includes educational and commercial buildings,
the district includes mostly residential buildings. A picturesque suburb of Chicago, the area is
noted for winding roads that gracefully curve through a ravine setting, as well as large lots and
well appointed, architect-designed, notable houses. A significant number of these large houses
and estates feature outbuildings, including coach houses, garages, tea houses, guest houses,
tennis houses and pool houses, that are often as architecturally significant as the main buildings.
Like 259 Mayflower Road, many of these outbuildings have been converted into single family
homes.

The coach house that Ambrose Cramer designed at 259 Mayflower is a relatively modest size
one and a half story building. Starting as a stable, the building was re-built as a garage for
Isabelle Ryerson, designed by her step-brother Ambrose Cramer to accommodate cars and house
either the gardener or chauffeur or both. Isabelle and Ambrose grew up together at Rathmore in
Lake Forest when their parents married. Isabelle Ryerson later asked her stepbrother Ambrose
Cramer to add a residence to the garage, most likely as a honeymoon cottage for her son Tony
and daughter in law Dusa. The young Ryerson family lived in their house, and when their family
grew, Tony’s mother Isabelle and grandmother Isabelle Cramer lived in the house. It is a service
building that, though not related stylistically to the shingle style main house at 261, was built in a
style that was popular at the time.

Colonial Revival architecture never ceased being of interest from as early as the 1876 Centennial
celebration through the years after World War IL. Driven by patriotism and an interest in
America’s Colonial history it became particularly popular in a more literal sense after the First
World War. So, it is not entirely surprising that the style was selected for a service building.
When Ambrose Cramer added to it for Tony and Dusa Ryerson, he gave it the fee! of a home that
was at once formal yet rustic and comfortable. Having worked for David Adler, he imbued the
interior with symmetry, with interesting paneling and, in the master bedroom, a fireplace with
beautiful tilework. In the living room, the beamed ceiling and knotty wood walls are reminiscent

41 «“Ambrose Cramer, Adviser to Phoenix Art Museum,” Arizona Republic, Phoenix Arizona, November 3,
1970.
2 “Ambrose Cramer, Noted Rockport Resident Dies at Age 79,” Camden Herald CJ, no. 45 (November 5,

1970); “Mary Meeker Cramer, Designer, Preservationist, Benefactor,” Portland Press Herald, April 18, 1996.
According to the Maine State Historic Preservation Commission, Mary Cramer gave no indication that there was an
archive of Cramer’s drawings, sketches or correspondence. Email from Kirk Mahoney, Director, Maine Historic
Preservation Commission, August 5, 2020.
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of a country lodge. The dining room is small but cozy, with a feeling of intimacy. The residential
section of the house designed by Cramer was elegant and, at the same time, very comfortable.

CONCLUSION o

The residence, which is more or less the western half of the building, remains virtually intact, as
Cramer designed it, and as such, has excellent integrity. The former garage, however, which is
all of the eastern half of the building, was converted into residential space and has little visual
connection to Cramer’s work. The dormers are intact, but the garages no longer read as garage
door openings. It is unfortunate that all changes made in the 1970s since Ambrose Cramer’s
design for the residential section have been clumsy, out of scale and disrespectful of Cramer’s
thoughtful and beautifully - scaled detailing. Details like the addition of round windows are
totally inappropriate. Because of its compromised integrity, demolition of the building is
acceptable.

That said, the exterior of the “tool house”, which has been altered on the interior, has excellent
integrity, and it is significant in its own right. It was designed as a visual delight, as part of the
estate at 261 N. Mayflower Road. It could be restored and moved, and would make a very
interesting and appropriate garden “folly” on the property of 261 Mayflower.

Ambrose Cramer was a distinguished architect who designed stylish and elegant revival style
buildings, not too many of which remain. It is unfortunate that over the years Monoxide Towers
has been so unsympathetically altered and expanded. Because of Cramer’s design and
workmanship, the building deserves to be documented, with this report on file at the Lake Forest
Lake Bluff History Center.
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Lake Forest Historic District Map
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Plat of Subdivision

1977 Plat, Peter G. Danis Subdivision, City of Lake Forest
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Buildings Designed by Ambrose Cramer:

Lakeview Avenue Row House District, 2700-2710 N. Lakeview Avenue, Chicago 1915 - 1917
2710 N. Lakeview Front Entrance, Ambrose Cramer’s home

Photo: Final Landmark recommendation adopted by the Commission on Chicago Landmarks,
September 1, 2016

Hanson-Cramer House, as re-designed by Ambrose Cramer, Rockport, Maine
Historic American Buildings Survey, July 1960
https://Www.loc.Qov/pictures/item/me0070.nhotos.0882780/resource/ accessed July
24, 2020.
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51 Green Bay Road, History Center of Lake Forest - Lake Bluff,
https://Iflb.passitdown.com/stories/42168. accessed August 5, 2020
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35 Green Bay Road, History Center of Lake Forest - Lake Bluff,
https:/Iflb.passitdown.com/stories/42168. accessed August 5, 2020.
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Brushwood Farm, Ryerson Summer Home, Ryerson Conservation Area
History Center of Lake Forest - Lake Bluff,
hitps://Iflb.passitdown.com/stories/42168. accessed August 5, 2020.

Montecito, 1931, Santa Barbara, California
“Cape Dutch-style Estate has Panoramic Ocean Views,
Photo Jim Bartsch/TNS Los Angeles Times

» GQeattle Times, October 4, 2016

https://www.seattletimes.com/ expl0re/at-home/cape—dutch—stvle-estate-has-panoramic-

ocean-views/, accessed July 20. 2020
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Fincastle, 1937, Louisville, Kentucky

“Horse Country Estate Built in 1937 by Chicago’s Ambrose Cramer”
The Atlantic, December 4, 2011
https://www.theatlantic.com/national/archive/2011/1 2/horse-country-
estate-built-in-1937-by-chicagos-ambrose-cramer/249293/, accessed
August 6, 2020.
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NALCO, National Aluminate Corporation Headquarters
Naperville, Illinois

Ambrose Cramer, Architect

Benjamin Historic Certifications Collection
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Tree Inventory Listing 259 Mayflower Road Lake Forest, IL Prepared by Urban Forest Management, Inc. 7/2/2n20

TREE INVENTORY
HIGHLIGHTED TREES PROPOSED FOR REMOVAL

Tog No. Location Tree 1D Botanical Name Common Name Size Cond.  Form Problems Insect/Disease Comments Coteadersat DBH Heritage Tree |
501 SAV. LotCotner ACSU  Acer saccharum Sugar Maple 18 3 4 basal decay, damaged leader, metalintrunk, muitiple Ofd UFM tag#312,
leaders
502 SW.LetCorner PIAB  Pices abies Norway Spruce s 2 3 overtopped
503 S.of Drive QUAL  Quercusalba white Oak 34 4 3 minor deadwood, basat swell, hollow Old UFM tag#313. Heritage Tree
504 S.of Drive Nt Juglansnigra Black Walnut 875 2 3 minor deatwood, thin crown, twistin trunk
805 5.of Drive PINE Pinus nigra Austrian Pine 0 r 2 minor deadwood, sparse faﬁage;sapsmkerdamagaﬂ
e mudtiple leaders
506  S.of Drive PIST Pinus strobus Eastern White Pine 8 4 4 miner deadwood, girdling root, thin ¢i ctwm, twist in
L4 trunk, Jower branches shaded aut o
Sb‘if 5. of Drive | ACSY  Acersaccharum & ) ,Sugar Maple 23 2 3 minot deedweod dieback T ( ¥ \e‘ chlorotic Old UFM tagi314,
508 .5.of Drive ULAM  Wmus americana % American Elm 15 3 3 minor deadwooed, suckering. twis in trunk old GF tag #3185, "No Trespass
: ) sign' attached to runk.
509  S.of Drive TiA THaamericans Basswood [Amermn tinden} 15 3 3 sud(ermg, multiple leaders Cid #JEM 93#318.
510 S.of Drive PSME  Pzeudotsugs menziesti Dauglas-fir 9 4 4 sparse foliage, excessive lean, lower branches maded Old UFM tag #323.
/ ‘ L ] ) out, uprooted  swewe. ,
511 S.of Drive PSME  Pseudotsugs mendesil Douglas-fir 13 3 4 one sided, thin crown, lower branches shaded out Old UFM tag #3234,
512 S.of Drive PSME  Pseudotsugs menziesit Douglas-fir 8 4 4 minor deadwood, sparse folisge, one sided, over- Cld LIFM tag #325,
513 S.of Drive PSME  Pseudotsuga mengiesii ' Douglas-fir 3 3 "3 onesided, over-topped, bwist in runk Old \IFM fag #3265,
514 S.of Drive ACSY  Acer saccharinum ‘ Silver Maple 38 3 3 weakerotch, multipte leaders Old UFM tag#327. Forked at 2’ with a 15" co-leader,  Heritaga Tree
515 §.of Orive TSCA  Tsuga canadensis Eastern Hemlock 3 3 3 double leader "
516  S.of Drive ACPL Acer platancides Norway Maple 13 3 3 slight sweep, double leadar
517 S.of Drive ACPL  Acer platancides Norway Maple 10 3 3 sightlean
518 S.of Drive PIAB  Piceaables Norway Spruce 11 3 3 dight lean, trunkswell )
513  E.of Drive ACSY  Acer saccharinum Stiver Maple 18 4 4 basal decay, basal scar, stight lean, double leader
520 EofDrive ACRU  Acer rubrum Red Maple 3 2 3 weakcrotch, multiple lnaders Old UFM g #354.
521 E.ofDrive ACRU  Acer rubrum Red Maple 8.75 3 3 trunk scar, girdling roet tar leaf spot
522 E ofDrive ACRG  Acer rubrum Red Maple 8 2 3 weakerotch, over-topped, multiple leaders '
523 E.ofDrive GURU  Quercus rubra Northem Red Oak 2 3 4 excessvelean o
524 N.of Drive, . of Residence  ACRU  Acer rubrum RedMaple S 3 3 weskcrotch, one sided, multiple leaders
525  N.of Dive,S. of Residence  ACRU  Acer rubrum Red Maple 13 2 3 weak crotch, multiple leaders tar leaf spot
526  N.ofDrive, S of Residence  ACRU  Acer rubrum Red Maple 14 3 3 weakcrotch, one sided, girdfing root, multiple laaders
527  N.of Drive,S. of Residence  ACRU  Acer rubrum Red Maple 12 3 3 waeak crotch, one sided, multiple leaders )
28 N.ofDrive,S.ofResidence  PISY  Pinus sylvestris Scots Pine 3 5 3 sparse foliage, sapsucker damage ips beetle fofvn &
525  N.of Drive, S, of Residence  RIGL Picea glauca ? White Spruce g 3 3 minor deadwwd,mesiﬂed sapsucker damage Ve
1 t
530 N of Drive,S. of Residance  ACSY Acer saccharinum Sibver Maple 16 3 3 ﬁaﬂwood, weak oroteh, double leader Cld UFM tag 8345,
531 N, ofDrive,S. of Residerce  ACPL  Acer platenoices Norway Maple 13 3 4 waakcroteh, slight sweep, crossing branches old UFs 1ag #344, Forked at 1.5 and 4" with 10%, 8"
co-leader:
532 N.ofDrive,S. of Residence ACSY  Acer saccharinum Silver Mapie 7 3 3 minor deadwood e
533 N ofDrive,S. of Residence  ACPL Acer platancides Norway Maple 15 3 3 bwist In trunk, multiple leaders
534  N.of Drive, 5. of Residence ACPL Acer platanoides Nonway Maple g 3 4 one sided, over mpped doubleleader
535  N.ofDrve,S.of Residence PIAB  Pices abies Norway Spruce 10 3 3 minor deacwood, one sided, over-topped, lower
) i branches shaded out
536  N.ofDrive,S. of Residence  PIAB Picea abies Norway Spruce 10 2 3 minor deadwood, one sided
537 N.ofDiive,S. of Residence CRCR  Crataeguscrus-galli o Cockspur Hawthorn 16 4 3 weskcrotch, trunk scar, suckering, detay Forked 2t 1.5' with an 8" co-
teader,
538 N, of Drive, 5. of Residere  CRCR Crataegus crus-galli Cockspur Hawthorn ' i1 3 3 weak crotch, twist intrunk, multiple leaders
533 N.ofDrive,S. of Residence TIAM  Tillzamericana Basswood {American Linden) 26 4 3 heavy desdwood, weak crotch, damaged leader, Old UFM tag #4334, Forked at2' with s 19" co-leader.  Heritage Tree
dieback
540  N.of Dsive,S.of Residerce QAL  Quercusalba white Oak 30 3 3 minor deadwood, dieback Old UFM t3g #330, -Heritage Tree
541  N.ofDrive,S. of Residence PIAB  Picea ables Norway Spruce 8 3 3 sspsuckerdamage, over-topped
542 NW.RightofWaycomer PIAB  Picea abies Norway Spruce 11 3 3 minor desdwood
543 N, of Drives TSCA Tsuga canadensis @ Eastern Hemlock A‘ 8 3 & onesided, sight sweep
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CORRESPONDENCE



Baehr, Jennifer

I
From: David Strong <davidstrong312@outlook.com>
Sent: Friday, September 11, 2020 9:40 AM
To: Baehr, Jennifer
Subject: 259 N Mayflower

CAUTION: This email originated from outside the organization. Verify the legitimacy of the email with the sender before
clicking links or opening attachments from unexpected sources.

Dear Preservation Committee,

We concur with the owner’s request to demolish the existing structure at 259 North Mayflower. The house was last
occupied as a rental and subsequently was leftina dilapidated state. It would take too much work to make the house
suitable for occupation again. In addition, the building sits awkwardly in the lot, the second story does not have proper
ceiling heights, and it lacks an elegant solution for automobile circulation and parking.

Regards

David and Heather Strong
230 North Mayflower
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